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Monday, August 22, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is the sixth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.  This morning we will begin examining the panel on O&M and capital budget policy.


I would like us to aim to take a break somewhere around 10:30 and lunch at 12 o'clock.


Is there anyone present this morning whose appearance we have not noted yet who will be making an appearance this morning?


APPEARANCES:

MS. SIMS:  Margaret Sims for CustomerWorks.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Cass.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  I have no preliminary matters, Madam Chair, but I believe others may.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have two preliminary matters.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The first is -- which is the smaller one, is over the last couple of weeks Mr. Burke of the company and myself have been trying to nail down a set of compensation numbers related to head count so that we can get a sense of whether the average compensation in the company is going up by department.


We have now reached a set of numbers which I think is fair to say the company doesn't agree these numbers are -- 100 percent accurately reflect what we think they reflect, but the issues now are issues of substance, not of dollars.  And so I would like to file that, and I'm going to use it in my cross‑examination of this policy panel later on in the day.


The reason I'm filing it prior to the time I'm using it in cross‑examination is so that other parties can see it and so that if the company does wish to make any changes or corrections to the final that we arrived at, they still have time before I get to it in cross‑examination.  


So I have that document.  The panel has been given copies of it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give that Exhibit No. K6.1 and call -- and it will be characterized as salaries and employment expenses by department.  

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  SALARIES AND EMPLOYMENT EXPENSES BY DEPARTMENT  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the second matter may take a few minutes, and it is this.  We have provided you ‑‑ let me start with, we have provided you with a bound exhibit, that's this here, called "Materials of the School Energy Coalition Relating to Confidential Evidence".  Nothing in this document, by the way, is itself confidential.  It refers to confidentiality as an issue.  And a second document, which is a letter from Ms. Persad of Enbridge dated July 8th, 2005.  


I wonder if ‑‑ by the way, on the first of those, there is a loose page inside, unfortunately.  Last night when I looked at the final bound copies, I found there was a page missing, so we had to manually insert a page.


So I wonder if I could get exhibit numbers for those.  


MR. BATTISTA:  The first document in question will be -- its number will be K6.2, and it's characterized as materials of SEC relating to confidential evidence.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  MATERIALS OF SEC RELATING TO CONFIDENTIAL EVIDENCE 


MR. BATTISTA:  And the second material that Mr. Shepherd referred to will be given reference K6.3.  It will be characterized as a letter from Enbridge dated August ‑‑ sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's July 8th.


MR. BATTISTA:  July 8th, 2005.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.3:  LETTER DATED JULY 8, 2005 FROM

MS. PERSAD OF ENBRIDGE

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Madam Chair, the issue I wish to address is actually an issue of procedure, and it is going to seem like I'm making a whole big fuss about a relatively small thing, but unfortunately there are, underlying this, some very important substantive issues relating to the introduction of a particular piece of evidence from a previous Enbridge case.


I'm going to try to be brief, but I do have a few things I would like to say about this, if the Panel will indulge me.


MS. SIMS:  Just before Mr. Shepherd begins, because I understood that what we were dealing with this morning dealt more with how the proper procedure would be to bring this issue before the Panel.  There are other non‑parties who would want to be present if a substantive decision was being made with respect to confidentiality undertakings.  


It's my, I guess, expectation and hope that we can deal with that matter, the more substantive aspect, in the fullness of time.  The reason for my presence today is to advise the Board that there is ‑‑ the issue relates to a program agreement between CustomerWorks and Accenture, and that we will ‑‑ we agreed to having the document filed in this proceeding, provided it is done in confidence and under the confidentiality undertaking that the parties have already signed.


And in the materials that Mr. Shepherd has provided, our position is set out at page 13 in a letter from myself, and it's my hope that the document can be filed this morning simply on that basis and that if there is an issue with respect to parties not wanting to be bound by undertakings, that can be dealt with in the fullness of time and we don't need to take your time this morning when there is evidence to be heard.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  I assume, Mr. Shepherd, you will comment on what she said.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me start, Madam Chair, by saying that Ms. Sims is correct.  However, she wishes to allow the document to be filed today, including a condition that we believe is inappropriate and unacceptable.  And, therefore ‑‑ and it's expected that the document will be used in the next few days, and, therefore, it's not really possible to deal with that condition later.  If it's going to be filed today, we have to decide on what basis it's going to be filed.


Now, so I'm going to speak to the question of how we deal with this procedurally, but in order for you to understand this narrow issue, unfortunately, I have to give some of the background.  I apologize for taking your time to do that.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's take it one step at a time and see how we should deal with it procedurally, and then hopefully the substantive issue can be dealt with.


MR. SHEPHERD:  To understand how we deal with it procedurally, we have to understand what the document is.  This document is Exhibit X21.2 from the RP-2002‑0133 proceeding.


Now, you should be aware that ‑ and you probably are ‑ that in that particular proceeding, which is the Enbridge 2003 rate case, there was really quite a massive dispute over the filing of information relating to the outsource of customer care to CustomerWorks Limited Partnership.  It is the first time it had been dealt with, and CWLP is 70 percent owned by Enbridge and so it was an affiliate debate.


There were several weeks of dispute about the confidentiality issue, including two motions, a motion to deal with whether the stuff should be filed in confidential and another motion to deal with the interpretation of the first decision.


This particular document that I want to file in this proceeding is -- which, as I said, is X21.2 from the previous one, I'm not going to describe the detailed comments, because obviously it was filed in confidence and this proceeding right now is not in camera, but I can tell you that there are three things in it, none of which is confidential, that are material to this case.


One is the actual cost CWLP pays annually to obtain customer care services from Accenture, and that's both for 2003 and for 2006; second, the profit and loss projections of CWLP and, in particular, Enbridge's 70 percent interest, again for the entire period, and how those projections are arrived at; and, third, details of CWLP's and Accenture's obligation to provide a fixed price CIS solution for EGD.


Now, I think we, and probably many other intervenors, thought that X21.2 from the previous case had already been filed in this case.  Attachment 4 of Exhibit I5-192, a confidential attachment filed in response to an interrogatory by CCC, purports to be the same document as X21.2.  

And, indeed, in -- if you take a look at Exhibit K6.3, which I’ve just filed, you’ll see that Ms. Persad, in the bottom of page 2, under the heading “ii”, the fourth line down says:  

          “In filing attachment 4 -- 

The one in this case says:   

“CWLP and Accenture provided this same agreement to certain interested parties in the company's rate proceedings for 2003 and 2005.” 

     Early in August, when I started to prepare to cross-examine on customer care, in which we expect to be one of the leads, I actually used my previous copy of the document, because it had all my notes on it.  It had all my annotations:  what to look for, what issues to raise, et cetera.  And I really ignored attachment 4, until I had to look to see whether some things had been amended in the last two years.  

     So I went to attachment 4 for the first time, and found that many of the things that I knew should be there, like dollar figures and spreadsheets, scheduled payments, everything was gone.   It had been omitted.  I checked the whole document and, sure enough, all of the important things in that document have been deleted in this case.  So what is filed in attachment 4 of I, 5, 192, is not the same document as was filed in X21.2 in the 2003 case.  

     I should note that many of the things that have been excluded in the current filing are noted as such, with the words "omitted as confidential" sprinkled liberally throughout the document.  However, there are a number of cases in which there is no such annotation.  Things have been deleted with no indication that a deletion was made.  

     And I should tell you that this is not a redaction.  It is -- somebody has taken the word-processed document, and has rerun it and taken things out.  For example, two schedules - the one dealing with how much CWLP actually pays for EGD's customer-care services, and the one dealing with CIS - have been deleted, and all mention of them excised from the document.  

     So, for example, there’s a list of schedules:  those schedules have been taken out.  Not whited-out:  removed so that you don't know that they were there in the first place.  

     Now, as the panel will realize, moving things and saying so is one thing; removing things and not telling the Board about it is quite another thing, and it's a serious matter.  And one that we may revisit later in this proceeding.  

     Now, when we realized that our cross-examinations on both customer care and CIS depend exactly on the things that have been withheld in this document, in the current filing, we wrote to Mr. Hoey, on August 8th, advising that we planned to do - to introduce the complete document during our cross-examination, that is, the one from 2003.  And you will see -- in Exhibit K6.2, you’ll see our letter to Mr. Hoey, at pages 2 and 3 of that document.  

     Basically, we're trying to give him a heads-up:  if there's going to be a dispute about this, let's talk about it.  We enclosed a copy of the document we were planning to file to Mr. Hoey and to Board Staff, because both of them already had it from 2003.  But we did not -- when we copied the letter to other parties, we did not enclose the document to them, because we didn't know who had signed the confidentiality undertaking and who had not.  

     It was important to enclose the document because the issue was ambiguity between two versions of the document.  They had to know exactly what it was we wanted to rely on.  

     So a week later, we received a letter from Ms. Sims acting for CWLP - and you will see that at pages 4 and 5 of our materials - saying that we understand -- they understood that we’d filed this document in these proceedings, which we hadn't, but she thought we had.  And in our view -- in their view we were in breach of our 2003 undertaking.  We should have given it back after the 2003 case.  We shouldn't know what was there.  And she attached a copy of our 2003 undertaking, which is pages 6 and 7 of the material.  

     MS. SIMS:  Sorry, just to -- I hesitate to interrupt, but my -- I guess, in that letter, it was my concern that the document had been filed.  And filing the document would have been a clear breach of the undertaking.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Ms. Sims, I’ll give you an opportunity to respond when Mr. Shepherd is complete.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We responded immediately, on the same day, advising that we hadn't filed it, saying that we did not agree we're in breach of our 2003 undertaking, and asking, specifically, that, if they objected to it being filed in this case, they should do so clearly, so that we can get the Board to decide -- we can have some orderly procedure for deciding what should be done in this case.  That's at pages 8 and 8 A of the materials.  

     Now I'm not going to go through the rest of the correspondence, because I don't think it is necessary, although, obviously, I’ll answer questions about it, if you wish.  But I will take you to page 13 of Exhibit K6.2, where Ms. Sims said -- now, this letter is marked “without prejudice”, but I should tell you that subsequently it has been resent on a “with prejudice” basis, and Ms. Sims is aware that it’s being filed today, and has consented to that -- in fact, has advised me she was going to file it if I didn't.  

     And in this, CWLP has proposed that the 2003 version of the document be filed, subject to five conditions.  And you will see those conditions, there.  Basically, it's the normal confidentiality conditions, except that they include, as number five, that, once the proceeding is finished, we have to give it back.  

     And we have responded to that, saying, We agree with those terms, except that we're not going to give it back.  

     Now -- so the only difference, and the only issue of procedure before the Board -- and this is the reason why how we handled it is so tricky, is because it's a very narrow issue.  But you don't understand the issue unless I take you through all of that.  The only difference appears to be whether this document, filed in confidence, should be given back at the end of the proceeding.  

     I don't plan to go into the question of whether we breached our undertaking from 2003.  We believe that we did not.  We believe that the question of -- however, of how to deal with the evidence in this proceeding is completely separate from whether we are or are not in breach of our undertaking from 2003.  

     So what we propose is to advise the Board, today, why we do not believe that the condition that this document be given back should be imposed on us -- the rationale behind that argument.  And then, either Ms. Sims would have the opportunity to respond to that - we've already made these arguments in correspondence so it's -- this is not news - or, alternatively, if the Board prefers, Ms. Sims and Mr. Howe, if he wishes to come, could come on another day to respond to our submissions.  I have no problem with that, either.  

     The only concern I have is that I understand that some parties wish to use this document in cross-examination, either today or tomorrow -- in cross-examination in which I will be very interested, because it will relate to my cross-examination.  And, unless this matter is resolved, either that cross-examination cannot go ahead, of the policy panel, or I have to be excluded, in which case I will be prejudiced in doing my own cross-examination.  Therefore, the issue of whether this matter is dealt with today or later is an issue of prejudice or schedule.  

     So, therefore -- so that's the dispute question, how do we deal with the dispute?  And I won't make my submissions until the Board tells me how you’d like to deal with it.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     Ms. Sims, would you like to comment on that? 

     MS. SIMS:  In terms of the outline of the matters that -- in terms of our offering that one particular issue, the number 5, I’d just like to bring it to the attention of the Board that the reason why this issue may or may not need to be addressed today is -- if I can turn -- if I can have you look at page 21 of Exhibit K6.2, that's the undertaking of non-disclosure that's been signed in this proceeding.  And paragraph 1(f) addresses that point that at the end of the proceeding, confidential information will be returned.


And I note that -‑ so the issue is not that CustomerWorks is seeking to impose an additional confidential term.  This is a term that is in the undertaking, which has been executed by the intervenors who have had access to the confidential information.  And so it's my submission that if intervenors wish to seek to be somehow relieved from their undertakings, that that is quite a serious issue that can't be addressed in the short time we have this morning and should be done on proper materials and proper notice, but that this matter shouldn't hold up the proceedings today or tomorrow with respect to this document, since the terms under which we would like to have the document filed are, in fact, the terms that have been agreed to by the parties by signing these undertakings and that there is nothing new in the conditions which were set out in my letter of August 18th.


And it's my submission that dealing with issues of whether parties are still bound by their confidential undertakings is in fact a very serious cornerstone issue for non‑parties like my client, who deal with disclosing confidential business information in these proceedings.


And there are other non‑parties who would want to be present if there was an issue going to the reliability and ability to rely on undertakings of non‑disclosures signed in good faith by counsel and that that issue shouldn't be addressed this morning on limited notice, and that it need not be addressed this morning.  


The conditions set out in my letter are ones that Mr. Shepherd himself agrees to the first four, and the fifth one is one that is already covered off by the undertaking of non‑disclosure.  I note that the undertaking of non‑disclosure specifically refers to the program agreement at item (ii).  So it is not that this is a new document being added into the mix for this undertaking.  It's the very document that was contemplated that would be treated in this manner.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Does any other party have a comment on the procedural matter; that is, whether or not we can decide this issue today or whether or not it requires further notice?


MR. DINGWALL:  Very briefly, Madam, it seems to be a matter of practicality.  I'm not sure, from the comments of the parties, whether or not CWLP is content that the document be produced and that the issue that Mr. Shepherd has raised with respect to how it is then subsequently treated be determined subsequently, or whether CWLP objects to production of the document Mr. Shepherd is referencing until that issue has been determined.  


If that were clarified, that would give us some guidance as to what we need to deal with now versus what we need to deal with at a later date.


MS. NOWINA:  Good question, Mr. Dingwall.  Ms. Sims, could you answer that question?


MS. SIMS:  It's my client's position that given that these ‑‑ the undertakings include that very term, that until some sort of motion is brought to relieve parties of being bound by that portion of the undertaking, that that is in fact what's in place.


And so we would be content to file the document under the confidential terms set out in my letter and that that issue of returning the document at the end of the proceeding can be dealt with in the fullness of time, because the undertaking is already in place.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with the greatest of respect, this undertaking does not relate to a document that has not yet been filed, as my friend already admits.


MS. SIMS:  But the undertakings are all signed before the documents are filed, and so it does ‑‑ it references this very document in the ‑‑ in item ‑‑ in the recitals, in item (ii).


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have any comments?


MR. THOMPSON:  Just briefly, Madam Chair.  I was one of those who asked for the document by letter on Friday.  That's the program agreement unredacted.  I'm not asking to be relieved of my undertaking, but I am asking to have the document.  I understand that CWLP is prepared to produce it.  


As to the timing of the debate with respect to the condition, I leave that in your hands, but I would like to have the document today, if possible.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Anyone else?  Mr. Cass, do you have any comments?


MR. CASS:  I'm just a little concerned about clarity, Madam Chair.  Mr. Thompson just referred to the document unredacted.  It's my understanding that, as filed in the 2003 proceeding in confidence, it was a redacted document.  It's my understanding that that's what is in issue today, is provision of the same document as it was in the 2003 case.  I think that is right.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's my understanding, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  I am not so sure I knew it was redacted, but if it was, I will take Mr. Cass's word for that.


MS. NOWINA:  That's the one you want?  All right.  Just a moment, please.


[The Board confers]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, just in considering this procedural aspect, could you assist the Board in explaining why it is that you think that the undertaking of non‑disclosure, executed on behalf of your clients in this case, doesn't contain the provision outlined in ‑‑ or that the condition in 1(f) does not apply to this document?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Sommerville, there's two answers to that.  First of all, we didn't think that this was a legally-binding provision in the agreement in 2003.  This is a contract of adhesion, after all, and this is a provision that doesn't assist in protecting confidentiality and, therefore, shouldn't be in there.  And it is contrary, in our view, to public policy that evidence in a public proceeding have to be given back to a party adverse in interest.  That's the first thing, but the second thing ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If I can interrupt you just for a second, you did execute that document?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely, absolutely.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And so I can assume that whatever your reservations are, that you accepted that term when you executed this undertaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We did not expect to have to comply with that, and we don't think that anybody signed it expected to have to comply with that.  In fact, the practice of this Board is that people don't return confidential documents.  I've never actually seen it done.  However, that is a separate issue.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the simpler issue in this case is whatever the undertaking signed on July 11th, my birthday, was meant -- I have since given them notice, before they filed this document, that we do not agree to be bound by that term with respect to this document.  And, therefore, it doesn't matter what it said then.  What it says now doesn't include that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what you're suggesting is that in some of this correspondence you have indicated that the undertaking applies to everything up to now, but it doesn't apply to this document or going forward; that the undertaking is restricted to documents that you had received up to that time; is that right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think what we said is it does not apply to this particular document.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This particular document?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can you give me a reference in your correspondence to that effect? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Probably on page -- I think the clearest one is on page 16, in the first paragraph, where we agree to their resolution, except that we do not agree to give back the document.  And -- 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But -- I don't want to interrupt you unnecessarily, but just so that I've got the time-lines right, it -- the first reference in your materials is a letter of August the 8th -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- which is the letter in which you make the document -- you file the document with the Board.  And --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We did not file it.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You -- pardon me.  You copied the document to the Board.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  To Board Staff, only, so they could see what was happening.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And indicated to interested parties that this was the issue that you were -- you provided a copy of this correspondence, but not the attachment, to the other parties.         

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So, in your expression of not feeling bound with respect to this document, and the undertaking for non-disclosure, it is in the August 18th correspondence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It's actually pretty clear in the previous documents, as well.  But the only place where it’s said, clearly and specifically, is in the two letters of August 18th, yes.  

     But Mr. Sommerville, since this document has not yet been filed, and since an undertaking is something that we give to the person filing it, if we refile from a provision in the undertaking prior to them filing - any time, even five minutes before - then, if they give it to us on those terms, we're no longer bound by that provision.  

     MS. SIMS:  And part of the complication in this is that that term of the undertaking, requiring the document to be returned, was also in the 2003 undertaking -- in the 2003 proceeding, and the undertaking signed by Mr. Shepherd in that proceeding.  And that term, having to be returned, was also in that undertaking.  And he already has the document.  So it's a bit complicated, in that, although we would -- it would be being filed in this proceeding under confidential terms, it is a document that Mr. Shepherd already has.  So -- and on the basis that -- he had it on the basis that it would be returned.  So we --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so we understand your position, Ms. Sims, if I can play it back to you, and you can correct me if I've got it wrong.  You're prepared to allow the document to be filed today, and to be used for cross-examination by all of the intervenors who were prepared to sign, or who have signed, this undertaking with respect to non-disclosure.  The question of destruction or return of the document should be presumed to govern the situation until such time as someone brings a motion, and the Board rules that a contrary case should apply; is that right? 

     MS. SIMS:  That's correct.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now what is -- what happens if the Board hears that motion and determines that the term -- the paragraph 5 is not appropriate?  What’s -- that's the vicissitude that you're prepared to accept, I presume? -- 

     MS. SIMS:  Yes --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- a contingency.  

     MS. SIMS:  Yes, in that we -- in that this is, I guess, one further un-redacted version of a document and other documents that have already been produced under that undertaking, and in reliance on it.  And I guess we’d be willing to bear that risk, because we believe that the risk is -- should be -- on the basis that undertakings have been signed by counsel, should be small. -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Somerville --

     MS. SIMS:  -- and -- but the added point that, perhaps, I didn't appreciate until this morning that Mr. Shepherd was putting me on notice that he wasn't bound by his undertaking, and that somehow it wouldn't apply going forward.  That is not -- that may not be -- that's not a risk that I have instructions to bear.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE: Mm-hmm.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Sommerville, you have hit on something that, perhaps, we weren't -- we, certainly, weren't clear on.  We are prepared to be bound by the undertaking, including number 5, including that item, with respect to this document, as long as it's understood that we can bring a motion seeking to be relieved from that provision, after the fact.  And if we lose, we have to give it back.  If we win, then we get to keep it.  

     We’d be happy with that resolution, I think.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman may I just ask this question -- I'm sorry.  

     It's not clear to me what, if any, interest Mr. Howe and his client have in this.  And if this -- if my friend, Ms. Sims, is being put on the spot, appropriately so, to make a decision about what risk her client is prepared to bear, I'm wondering if we should hear from Mr. Howe about what risk his client is prepared to bear in this.  I don't know that, but I've heard his name mentioned, and I know that he has an interest in the issue.  

     MR. MILLAR:  If I may jump in -- thank you, Mr. Warren.  

     Mr. Howe did speak with me sometime last week and he said, if anything of substance was to be decided -- I don't know if Ms. Sims has spoken with him since then, this would have been Tuesday, I believe.  He did tell me that he certainly has an interest in this, and if substantive decisions are going to be reached, he wanted to be able to address the Board.  And I don't believe he’s here today.

     MS. SIMS:  And I have -- I guess I have spoken with Mr. Howe, who is counsel for Accenture, who is the other party to this agreement.  And he had instructions that he would consent to the terms set out in my letter of August 18th.  But this additional issue was one that I did not have an opportunity to speak to him about.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We're going to take our morning break now, for 15 minutes, to give the Panel time to consider this matter.  


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 9:40 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:15 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


DECISION:

MS. NOWINA:  The panel has a statement on this matter.  It's our understanding that Mr. Shepherd has agreed to accept all the conditions of Ms. Sims' letter of August 17th, 2005.  Mr. Shepherd may choose to subsequently file a motion to challenge the condition to return or destroy the confidential documents.


This is the appropriate course.  It is the Board's view the parties must comply with the undertaking of non‑disclosure signed in the proceeding.  The process for challenging an undertaking is to bring a motion to the Board or court.  Prior to or pending an order to the contrary, parties are required to comply with the terms of the undertaking.


Deliberate non‑compliance with an undertaking will be considered contempt of the Board.


Are there any other preliminary matters?  Mr. Cass, are you ready to introduce your panel?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I am, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  I will just call the witnesses forward and introduce who they are as they come up to be sworn.  The first witness, who will be sitting closest is to the Board Panel, will be Jim Schultz, president of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Also on the panel is Mr. Scott Player, the vice president, finance.  Mr. Schultz, perhaps you could go forward and be sworn.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Introduce them first.


MR. CASS:  Certainly.  Next in order is Mr. Tom Ladanyi, manager budgets and planning, and, finally, Mr. Glenn Beaumont, vice president, engineering.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 3:

Jim Schultz; Sworn


Scott Player; Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Sworn

Glenn Beaumont; Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, would you like to start your examination?


EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Just by way of background, Madam Chair, as the Board is aware, the company has called this panel to address the policy background of its O&M and capital budgets for the test year.  


There will be no evidence specifically for this panel to adopt.  One or more of the witnesses may be on a subsequent panel to adopt evidence at that time.  This panel, though, is really just addressing the policy of the O&M and capital budgets, so I won't have any questions about adopting evidence.  


Having said that, I do have a few examination in‑chief questions for the witnesses.


Mr. Schultz, if I could start with you, could you please explain to the Board the policies and issues that lie generally behind the company's O&M and capital budgets for 2006?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Certainly, Mr. Cass.  Madam Chair, Board members, the budget or the application we put forward, we believe we are at this point in time witnessing extraordinary and significant pressures on the company and we expect that to be sustained.  We don't expect this to be a one‑time blip.


What we are facing or what we see is a step function or a quantum leap in nature of demands on our business.  These demands are driven by customer needs.  They are based on the state of our natural gas infrastructure.  They are based on rapid growth within our franchise area.  They're also based on construction of gas‑fired electric generation that we are faced in this province and the investments that we have to provide to meet that particular requirement.


It's driven by inflation and it's driven by compliance, just to name a few.


I would like to identify the fact, if you're not aware, that Enbridge Gas Distribution is the second fastest organically-growing gas utility in North America.  We don't see this stopping.  If I look at the growth over the last nine years, and I'm including our forecast for 2005, there's been an increase of more than 50,000 customers per year.  Now, that's a half a million customers by 2006, and not only is that new service and expenditures to provide new services, but particularly in the 905 area where there's been tremendous growth.  It also requires additional reinforcement on the infrastructure that is currently there.  


As you know, we grow our system according to what we project the need is.  The growth in that area continues, and we believe it will continue to grow at that level.


In addition to that, we are all aware of the electricity shortfall in this -- electricity supply shortfall in this province.  It's a situation where we find that natural gas is, in fact, something that will assist in at least the short‑term in providing electricity requirements in this province.


And we know the government's policy to replace

coal-fired generation, one of the most effective ways in the short‑term is through gas‑fired generation.


In addition to that, we continue to do risk assessment on our infrastructure on our plant and, as we continue to do that, our assessment had indicated that the conditions of the cast-iron and bare steel, the replacement program that we have been following, has not been sufficient to meet the needs.  We saw a deterioration of the number of -- or seen deterioration on the cast iron.  And if you look at that, the number of leaks and breaks is -- that we have in Enbridge Gas Distribution is far largest on cast iron and bare steel.  


In addition to that, if you look at our business, as other industries, we face the continuing increasing pressures of running the business and what those costs would be.  We believe that will continue.  We believe that there are a number of these factors that are beyond our control.  They're external.  They're things like salary and wage increase pressures; things such as increasing material costs.  Insurance rates continue to rise, together with things like health and other benefits.  So substantial increases.


Now, notwithstanding all of these pressures and the pressures that come with being the second largest or the second fastest organically-growing gas utility in North America, we believe that there are significant benefits to the ratepayer, but you have to appreciate, I think, that if you look at how we have operated this gas utility through the years, that regardless of all of the additional pressures, we still have one of the lowest O&M costs per customer of any LDC in North America.  


We have identified that in our evidence and, if you would bear with me, I wouldn't mind if you would turn to that particular exhibit.  It is Exhibit A6, tab 1, schedule 2.


I believe you will see that on page 3 of 8.


MS. NOWINA:  We have it.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Have you found that?  Thank you.  What I want to point out here is that you will see it has Enbridge O&M costs per customer from '93 through to 2002.  That was the latest information that we had for this particular benchmark.  


If you look from '97 through 2002 - and you will see at the bottom it says Enbridge position relative to participants - we have either been the lowest or the second lowest O&M cost per customer over that entire period of time.


This continues, and we will address that later.  This is the information and most up‑to‑date we had for filing, but I want to point out that, even with all of the cost pressures that we face, we do continue to operate a very cost-effective and low-cost O&M cost per customer.  

     Now, I identified that ratepayers will benefit from this rate application.  They will benefit through various aspects, including the improved reliability of our distribution system.  New customers will have access to gas.  And the system will be safer.  Gas-fired electricity generation will benefit, because of the new natural gas distribution plant that will be built.  

     So, in general, I believe that the costs and the basis of this budget are both reasonable and beneficial to the ratepayer.  

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Schultz.  Now, you touched on the company's cast-iron and bare-steel main replacement program.  Did you wish to say more about the policy behind that program? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Cass.  Cast-iron and bare-steel is a significant concern to myself, with the knowledge that I have -- in fact, we have, as a company, that I had alluded to.  The infrastructure in downtown Toronto -- I believe we have an obligation to act and the sooner, the better.  I’ll honestly tell you that, with this knowledge, both myself and many of my managers are kept up awake at night.  We cannot afford to be complacent.  And, until the last deteriorating kilometre of cast iron is replaced, we will not move forward -- or we will not feel comfortable that we have addressed this issue as effectively as we can.  

     Quite simply, the likelihood of an incident increases, the longer we have the deteriorating cast-iron in the ground.  If it's unsafe for one person, that's unacceptable.  Can you imagine the circumstances with a densely-populated area, like downtown Toronto?  It's totally unacceptable.  

     If we do this work as quickly as possible, then I think it will work effective.  If we do not, there are implications that I don't think we would like to live with.  

     Today, I would ask all parties, whether they represent residential customers, industrial customers, whether they represent senior citizens or schools, to recognize the prudence of this proposal, that is both reasonable and responsible.   Deteriorating cast-iron mains represent a serious risk, and one that will grow larger if we do not replace it as soon as possible.  

     We can't afford to talk about three years versus eight years; we really need to move forward as quickly as we can.  We do look at other jurisdictions around the world, and see the ramifications of deteriorating cast-iron.  Our commitment to safety is non-negotiable.  I think it’s -- well, we do know what we need to do at this point in time.  Now is the time to honour the responsibility and do it.  Thank you.  

     MR. CASS:  Mr. Player, if I could turn to you, please, and ask you to elaborate for the Board on some of the policies and issues that lie behind the O&M budget of the company.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, Mr. Cass.  

     I want to start by picking up where Mr. Schultz left off, I guess, with respect to safety.   Because in our minds, safety is number 1; and safety isn't free, nor is it constant.  It's our plant, our systems and, indeed, our employee workforce ages, it requires replacement and it requires upgrading.  That holds whether it is replacement computer hardware and software, be it computer information systems or it could be our work-and-asset-management systems.   But it also includes people replacement and it includes people training.  

     We do care very much about safety, reliability, certainly customers, productivity and fair pricing.  Those values are consistent across all levels and functions of this gas utility.  In fact, we take it up a level:  the chief executive officer of Enbridge Inc., Mr. Daniels, is very concerned on the issue of safety, and speaks about it quite often, but he’s equally concerned about customer service of this distribution utility.  As a senior manager responsible for customer-care activities, I guess I know that, personally. 

     We're not perfect, but we do strive to be the best at everything we can in gas distribution, but we very much need the help of this Board, and the support of this Board, to get there.  Because in order to be the best, it's necessary to invest.  The money that we're spending today in training and systems and pipe and plant, customer-care systems and so on, will bring us closer to that goal, which, we believe, is the same desire that our customers have.   

     You know, they don't want to wait on the phone, they don't want to call back.  They want fail-safe, right-the-first-time billing systems; they want well-trained, courteous, knowledgeable customer-service representatives, just like we do.  But it costs money.  

     Customers don't want gas-service interruptions.  They don't want leaky systems, and they don't want road repairs, or, they don't want volatile commodity prices.  They want ways to be able to reduce their consumption without being cold in the winter.  And we want to help them be able to do that. 

     They want fair prices, they want good value, and we want to make them investments in order to continue to drive higher productivity, and remain the lowest O&M cost-per-customer company in North America.   I’ll talk that about that further.  But we couldn't do that without more investment in both capital and O&M, and I really do appeal to you today to see that we get the resources we need to be able to deliver on our promises and those desires of our customers.  

     There is nothing more demoralizing to our employees than to be denied the opportunity and the funding to deliver on the programs and services that our customers have already indicated that they want, because we failed to deliver our message to you and convince you in the hearing room of those needs.  

     Mr. Schultz has stated unequivocally why our proposed capital program is critical to our ability to serve our customers, and your constituents and our ratepayers, safely and reliably over the years to come, and I make that same case for O&M spending.  This really isn't a time for awarding last year's base, plus inflation.  No, this is a time for realistic budgets and recoveries.  There’s no short cuts to getting the right answer, in this rate case, on our O&M spending.  We’ve worked very, very hard to define and stress for you our total O&M needs.  

     You will have read our evidence and recognized that there are substantially higher costs of running this business today.   The regulatory cost in this process, alone, and the cost to communicate it, made an increase of upwards of $5 million.   With world events, the cost of insurance, Sarbains-Oxley-type governance, our compliance costs have ratcheted up dramatically.  And with the objective of improved customer-attention and service at the same time as we're getting hit with higher commodity prices, that's, in turn, creating credit problems and driving up bad-debt costs.  It's real money.  

     This is anything but business as usual.  The old rules of setting the rates increases in line with customer-growth and inflation simply do not apply.  

     In this hearing, we’ve been asked to respond to corporate cost-allocations, and we have done so through an independent study.  And those recommendations propose a fair price for the services that we purchase from the corporate office.  

     To my mind, that’s really not up for negotiation.  It is fact.  We followed the process, as we were directed to do.  We got the answers, and now we're prepared to live with those answers.   Otherwise, why would we have requested to have embarked upon such an exercise? 

     There's one point that I will raise, again, in the corporate cost-allocation panel, that begins on Thursday, I believe.  And that's a reference by critics who would suggest that the governance costs that we incur through corporate services are, somehow, inappropriate for a customer to bear, that they’re a cost of -- I believe it’s referred to as “minding the investment.”  Now, that's not a line that I’ve ever seen in any financial statement, so I'm not quite sure where that concept comes from.  But, I would submit, that is a red herring.  In any company, who bears the cost of governance, if not the customer? 

     Are not a lower cost of capital and, indeed, the ability to access capital, at all - to use that capital to invest in better service, safety-related issues, productivity - is that not to the benefit of customers?  You know, I’d say even the right to stay in business and offer that service is a benefit to our customers, and, perhaps, even greater benefit in a monopoly-type situation, where there is no alternative provider.  If Enbridge Gas Distribution were unable to operate, due to bad governance, I think it would be a pretty cold winter for a lot of people in this province.  

     Of course, governance activities are a cost of doing business, and, of course, this is a cost rightly borne by the customers of that business, to my mind.  

     Now, Mr. Schultz has already alluded to the fact that O&M growth is not always linear: sometimes it takes a step-up function.  You know, it's not unlike a family situation: you start out, you get out of school, the costs kind of move along and things are fairly linear.  You find a partner and oh, oh, all of a sudden you've got a house and higher living cost that go along with that.  It's a step-up function.  Then you move along for a few years probably on a pretty tight budget.  It's kind of linear again.  Along come some kids or a bigger house, whatever, increased living expenses.  It's another step up in function, as well.  That's not unlike what happens in business.  It's no unlike what's happening in our own business.


We have been able to function with relatively stable linear increases at just slightly over the rate of customer growth plus inflation for the last five years, but we have now hit the wall.


The last time we had this was in 2000, 2001; we had a 2.3 percent increase above the customer growth and inflation costs, and that is exactly what we're seeing for 2006.  But that step function in cost increases has caught up to us, and, in fact, we're experiencing it to our detriment this year in 2005.  We're simply not recovering in rates what we're incurring in our expenses, and that accelerates next year before we once again expect to be on a more linear path.


Our step-up in O&M in the 2006 budget compared to the 2005 ADR settlement is quite significant, and it really is a few factors I would just like to point out.  First of all, regulatory costs:  The Energy Board for one, our hearing costs and the legals associated with it and the communications around that, Sarbanes-Oxley related issues as they apply in Canada and other governance issues, insurance costs.  Bundle those all into something called regulatory.  That's up 6-1/2-million dollars.  Very tightly aligned with that, I would submit, would be our corporate cost allocations, which are another $7.8 million, because a lot of those relate to governance.  Indeed, there is also supportive services, but governance is a big aspect of that. 


Mr. Schultz has talked to safety, and safety with our aging system, over and above the cost of inflation and customer growth, is about another 4- to 4-1/2-million dollars.


DSM programs, Enbridge Gas Distribution has been very, very supportive of DSM programs over the years, and we're probably one of the pre-eminent DSM gas distribution utilities in North America.  But that's another $5.6 million increase, and if that's a spending that you don't want us to make, we won't make it.  


Customer care, we're seeking in this rate case full recovery.  No allowances on our customer care.  We have benchmarked these costs across other companies and we believe they're fair, and to compare us with other companies like a Terasen and others I'm not quite sure is that appropriate.  This is a complicated, complex company we have got in Enbridge Gas Distribution.


Customer growth programs, specifically related to public policy changes that the government has initiated; moving from electricity to gas, power generation, another 2-1/2-million dollars.  That tallies up to about pretty close to $35 million of increases.  


Now, I'm not sure where we step back on that, on top of which we've got the regular customer growth and inflation, which is in the order of $10- to $12 million of increases, and that brings us to the O&M increase that we're looking at for 2006.


So if we've been looking at that linear model of inflation plus customer growth, it would be that 3- to 4-percent increase, $10- to $12 million.  That would be it.  But there are too many other factors, new factors that have come about through the environment that are driving costs up higher.  


As I said, we're already experiencing that pain in 2005.  We're working off a settlement number that only recovers $301 dollars in rate, while we're spending at a pace of $324 million in our O&M this year for the exact same factors that I just noted.  The step-up time has hit us have very badly in 2005, and it's going to continue in 2006 until we reach that new sustainable supporting level.  


But bear in mind that we continue to be ranked the lowest O&M cost-per-customer company in North America in numbers that have just been released not by ourselves, not by a consultant that we hired, not by a commission that we ‑‑ a study that we commissioned, but, rather, by the American Gas Association itself.


I ask you what clearer indication of cost prudence and productivity excellence for our ratepayers could customers possibly ask for?  We fully intend to spend every nickel of the amount that we filed for O&M in this 2006 rate case, because I don't have a clue as to how or where we could possibly mitigate that mandate that's been put before us.


As Mr. Schultz has said, we continued with sustained high customer growth over each of the last nine years, in excess of 50,000 employees.  That's approximately a half-a-million new customers over that period of time.  And in just over a decade, we had a 50 percent increase in our customer base.  


This is an old company.  It goes back to the mid 1800s.  We need the O&M to support that growth in order to properly service those customers going forward.


Now, if the Board does not feel it appropriate to award the company the amount of O&M cost recovery that's been filed, then I respectfully submit that I would ask to get some direction as to where we should be cutting, because we need some direction.  We don't want to jeopardize safety or reliability.  We do want to improve our customer service that -- we've heard it needs to be improved.  We do want to support the DSM programs.  We do want to support the government's direction moving from electricity and coal generation and power gen.  We have to be compliant.  


And we're also advised, Look out for the demographic shift that is coming in our work force, a generation of employees that you have started to move through now.  By the way, it's now more expensive to support the regulatory process.  


So as I go down that list, I'm really at a loss to see what we could possibly dispense with.  While we have got the best interests of our current customers at heart, we also have the interests of our future prospective customers in mind as this province continues to grow and demand even more from the gas utility than it has in the past.  


Percentage increases in line with traditional customer growth, plus inflation, are meaningless in this new age.  Commodity prices are driving customer care costs and bad debt.  Governance in both the regulatory rate setting and the auditing post WorldCom/Enron world are driving up compliance costs.  Aging plant and employee workforce are driving up maintenance training, replacement costs.  Conservation pressures are driving up DSM costs, and environmental and electricity costs generation realities are driving up our growth program costs.  


So, again, we don't know how to run this business on less, and we respectfully seek your approval on this submission.


 MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Player.  Could I turn to you, Mr. Beaumont, and ask you to respond to the same question, only in relation to the capital budget, please?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  It's perhaps important, I think, to start off on the capital budget by saying it really is a zero-base budget, so we don't take the prior year's actuals and adjust it by some sort of percentage increase.  It's developed by essentially, you know, assessing the needs of the business, whether that is through customer growth or system reinforcement or infrastructure rehabilitation for safety and reliability needs, and then developing the projects and the budgets and solutions required to meet those needs.  


So even though the individual drivers might be somewhat different for each of the various categories of capital, it really comes back to that theme of addressing the specific needs for that year for the company.


So from a growth perspective, you know, it's really about responding to the operating environment that's in front of us, and that's got a number of elements to it, including housing developments and, in this particular year, a lot of the electricity issues that are taking place in the province, obviously.  So there is capital that's been included -- and we wanted to make sure we did this, but there's some capital included to respond to potential power generation projects that will arise out of the government's RFP process.


There is also capital for system expansion to new communities that hopefully will allow those constituents to avail themselves of natural gas as an energy supply option and potentially help offset electricity consumption there, as well, and there is also the capital that's required for system reliability stuff.


And the remainder of the requirements of the distribution plant really tie back to that mandate and I would call it legal obligation that we have to ensure the safety and reliability of our distribution system, and that's a very real obligation and one that we take very seriously, as you have heard several times already.  And certainly the company has a history of more than 155 years of doing that and of trying to take care of its plant and of trying to meet the changing requirements of its system and the changing requirements of its customers. 


The mandate that is given to me by Mr. Schultz is absolutely entirely consistent with that history.  My own role is most directly connected to this obligation of being safe and reliable.  I was put in this position about two years ago, a little more than two years ago, and given the specific mandate by Mr. Schultz to pursue this goal of being safe and reliable beyond where we were at that time.


And we were facing some very significant changes that were on the horizon in the legislative arena with respect to safety.  We were busy assessing some very significant implications from serious incidents that had taken place in our own company and in other companies in North America and Europe.  


We were well aware of trends and discussions that took place in terms of infrastructure renewal across North America, in particular, not only in the natural gas industry -- and here you can think about water and electricity, for example, the calls to make sure that that infrastructure is kept cool.  We knew and believed that the expectations that were being placed on executives like ourselves were absolutely correct, in that we should be expected to do the right things and take care of not only the safety of our distribution plant but the safety of our employees as well.   So we've been taking some very concrete steps over the last few years, on a whole series of fronts, really, to try and get at this fulfilling of the mandate that I spoke about, as effectively as we can.  

     And not the least of those steps was to put in place the policies and plans to respond to pipeline-integrity legislation that had been introduced, in Canada and the States.  And, fast on the heels of that pipeline-integrity legislation, we know, is distribution-integrity legislation.  And so one of the key principles behind our policies, really, is to ensure, to the degree that we can, that we are positioned to be fully-responsive to that legislation, when it comes.  

     So, in other words, you know, we're trying to be ahead be of the curve on this, because not only do we think it’s the right thing to do, but we think it’s going to result in the best outcomes for our company, and ultimately, for our ratepayers, as we address these issues earlier in the process in a much more cost-effective manner over the long-term.  

     Now, though the legislation is not finalized in either country yet, the one thing that we do know, clearly, is that it is going to require distribution utilities to be significantly more sophisticated in how they assess the risks that the company faces, and, by extension, the public and its employees face in the area of safety.  And to that end, we have been trying to assess those risks, and to develop a good deal more sophistication ourselves in assessing those risks and where they exist in the company, and then to make sure that they are clearly understood at all levels of the company, from front-line right through all the executive, and then make decisions in the best way possible, to minimize those risks.  So that, obviously, is a large part of the drivers that were behind the decision to come forward with the acceleration on cast-iron and bare-steel replacement.  

     But I want to make sure that you're aware that that's not the only place that that direction manifests itself.  It was absolutely behind our decision to replace the copper services in the manner we did.  And, in that case, if you -- you may be aware, we evaluated the copper services.  Only a proportion of those posed an unacceptable risk, so we targeted the replacement of those services and made the decision to leave the remainder in the ground.  It was also, absolutely, a foundation behind our decision to rehabilitate those intermediate pressure services that still had inside regulation, and we’ve been doing that for two years.  And it is absolutely, we're convinced, the way we're going to have to continue to make those kinds of decisions, about what, and how fast and where, we need to rehabilitate our plant.  

     I think it’s also important to state that we don't undertake our assessments in a vacuum.  We are very active in -- with other industry bodies and regulatory -- technical, regulatory associations and bodies, as well, trying to understand what their experiences are, and how they’ve chosen to respond to the issues that are in front of them.  And so, to that end, we're very active on American Gas Association and Canadian Gas Association committees that are studying operating issues facing utilities in North America.  

     I, personally, sit on the Natural Gas -- the Technical Standards and Safety Authority Natural Gas Industry Advisory Committee, so we interact regularly with them, trying to gain an understanding on their perspective of where we should be focused as a utility.  And I can tell you that they -- we asked them their opinion on cast-iron, for example, and they issued a letter to us that was fully supportive of the direction that we've taken.  

     And we also make a fairly significant commitment on Canadian Standards Association committees, where the codes that are being developed, that govern the natural gas industry, take place, and the reason we do that is to make sure that they are as appropriate and effective as they possibly can be.  

     So, finally, on the safety front, I guess, the other thing that, you know, we're very interested in doing, is being able to measure how effective we have been in terms of our performance along that line and, really, in meeting what I think - from my own perspective, and the role I have - as being the most important strategic objective we have, which is to be the best-in-class in safe and reliable distribution.  

     So, to that end, we do participate in benchmarking exercises, where we compare ourselves against others, more than just on the numbers side, which you have heard and seen already, but also looking at safety-related indicators.  And what we've seen so far, essentially, validates a lot of the directions we’ve been taking.  An example of that is, in the past year, being awarded the American Gas Association Safety Award for large distribution companies.  We also know that in order to attain best-in-class status, we have to lead the pack, sometimes.  And an example of that, then, would be the development and implementation of what we're calling our “distribution management system”.  And again, this is just slightly ahead of the legislation.  We know it’s coming.  And, really, what that's intended to do is put really rigorously-, fully-documented processes in place, and formalized controls in place, around the operations of our company.  

     And again, like safety, in general, the effectiveness of a system like that is really dependent on being able to measure how well you've done.  And so, to that end, we've developed and implemented what we a “public safety and reliability index”, which now forms part of our corporate scorecard.  And it’s there entirely for one reason:  to ensure that we pay attention to those -- that aspect of our business, and to make sure it drives the right kind of behaviours throughout the company in the development of our plans, including our capital spending.  

     So I've spoken mostly about safety, but it’s probably also important to touch on the issue of system reliability, as well.  And Mr. Schultz did that, a little bit.  But we have been adding more than 50,000 customers per year, for roughly ten years.  And if you look at our distribution system -- if you looked at a map of it, within the City of Toronto, you would see a fairly-robust backbone of infrastructure of major pipelines.  That’s provided us with the flexibility and the capacity that we've needed to be able to respond to the growth, and the operating demands of the City of Toronto.  

     Even that relatively robust skeleton is now being stretched somewhat, and we know that we are going to have to reinforce that in the coming years.  But beyond that, if you think about the growth that's taking place, the vast majority of it has actually taken place to the north and the west of the City of Toronto, where we don't have that infrastructure, we don't have that backbone of significant pipelines in place, that give us the kind of flexibility and capacity we think we need.  And so another fundamental platform for the development of the capital budgets, then, becomes to ensure that we actually have assessed that growth -- the historical growth, the forecasted growth, and then developed solutions in the most effective manner -- and that means the most effective long-term manner.  That doesn't mean meeting a very short-term requirement.  

     So that means -- that also means making sure we have maintained the existing robustness that we had in systems already, and building in the new flexibility and capacity for future systems.  

     So, essentially, that is the foundation of the budget preparation for distribution plan.  It's to make sure we meet short-term customer-growth needs.  It's to make sure that we address the infrastructure-rehabilitation requirements that we've identified as being essential to fulfilling our mandate of being safe and reliable.  And it's to ensure that we have taken into account the long-term implications of the demands of our system, and built the best long-term solutions into our budgets.  

     Thank you.  

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Beaumont. 

     Can the panel please explain the role of senior management in the budget process for 2006?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Cass, I will start with the response to that.  

     First off, I want to make it clear that the process we used for 2006 is no different than the process we have used in the previous years. 

     It is a bottom-up budget process.  It is a budget that has been developed in Ontario and, in fact, is developed by my managers and staff to meet the requirements of our overall strategic objectives.  

     We are to provide a safe, reliable system, that meets our customers' needs in a cost-effective manner.  The budgets that are developed are consolidated for the overall Enbridge Gas Distribution budget, and myself and my senior management team, at that point, review it and ensure that there is alignment, ensure that we can deliver to that budget and that that budget will, in fact, be beneficial to the ratepayers of this province.  

     Mr. Player is responsible for the financial side.  I’ll let him elaborate on that.  

     MR. PLAYER:  I believe it’s a fairly straightforward kind of process, that most companies would go through.  We start with, as management, approving the planning assumptions and the guidelines and strategic objectives, and other factors to be considered for the budgeting process.  So starting with strategy off our long-range plans, and focusing that into the first year of that budget, and looking at economic factors, interest rates, housing starts, et cetera.  So then each department builds up their own budgets, from the grass roots level, on their own.  They have discussions on the factors, with their senior-management member, individually.  And then this is all brought together in a final, consolidated budget.  And the one here in question, that would have been in December, 2004, it was first pulled together.  

     And then a further review was conducted during the senior management's subsequent strategic-planning meetings, that we hold in January and February.  And at that -- I guess it was at that point we determined the adjustments required to address any extraordinary changes taking place in the operating environment.  Similar to what we're talking about, now, we looked at those strategies and said, Golly, have we really nailed this in the budget?  And then, once we determined that there were changes that needed to be made to budget, we turned back to the group and said, Okay, on the second iteration, we want you to ensure that you get those strategic objectives; you can't just build the first year of the budget, you’ve got to lay down the platform for the future years of this company.  So that capital budget, in particular, was reviewed and it was determined that in order to properly discharge our legal obligations to provide safe, secure, reliable and essential supply of natural gas, we believe at fair and reasonable prices, there needed to be changes.


We then reviewed that budget one more time for strategic considerations and were satisfied that it was a good budget, consolidated, and approved by the senior management.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Player, next time you speak, it appears that people may have some trouble hearing you, so if you could speak more directly into the microphone, that would be helpful.


MR. PLAYER:  Sorry, Madam Chair.


MR. CASS:  You might want to twist one of those mikes a little closer to you.


Finally, Mr. Beaumont, one last question for you.  Could you explain for the Board, please, the different ‑‑ the reasoning for the different approach by the company, in this case, to cast-iron and bare-steel main replacement.


MR. BEAUMONT:  Okay.  First of all, our perspective is very clearly that the mains replacement program will enhance ‑‑ you know, provide the benefits to ratepayers, in that it enhances the safety and reliability of the system in the short term, but it also drives rates down ultimately, as well.  But the decision to accelerate the mains replacement, it really is just an extension of the type of thought process that we have been putting in place and applied to a number of other operating and capital decisions over the past couple of years.  It's simply that.  It is really an extension of that.  


I had mentioned that we'd been doing a lot of work to assess the risks of our plant, and the assessment of cast-iron and bare-steel was obviously part of that exercise.  In this particular case, our assessments indicated and our monitoring indicated that the existing pace of replacement of cast-iron was not driving down on a per-kilometre basis the leaks or mains that we were experiencing.  


In addition, the other thing that we were doing was trying to look at this system on what I'll call a more holistic perspective.  So, historically, when we had looked at cast-iron, we really assessed only the mains themselves.  This time we were trying to assess the mains and the impact of the associated services that come off of those cast-iron mains, and that really has a very significant impact, as well, in terms of the risks that they bring to the table from a couple of perspectives:  One, that a lot of them are isolated steel services, so their own little corrosion areas; and, secondly, a lot of them are of a configuration that is straight into the inside of the building underground, so no -- essentially no weak point outside.  


Both of these caused us additional concern.  When we looked at that cost-iron and bare-steel holistically, as I called it, the combination really just led us to the point where it was clear that the only conclusion we could come to was that we needed to try to get rid of this as quickly as we possibly could. 


So when we assessed that, our decision making at really the highest levels of the company became as simple as it possibly could be.  It was that we had to do the right things and we – hmm ..., we knew that this was the right thing to do. 


Although it may seem like a relatively complicated exercise that we went through, it really wasn't, because we had come to the conclusion that we had no other acceptable alternative, other than to try to do this as quickly as we possibly could.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Beaumont.  Those are my questions for the panel in examination in‑chief, Madam Chair, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  To the other parties, we would like to get a sense of who will be cross‑examining.  If you have decided on some kind of order amongst yourselves, that would be very helpful, and if you could also give us some sense of the timing of each of your cross‑examinations, it would be appreciated.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The intervenors have instructed me to go first with this panel, and I expect to be probably around three hours in my cross‑examination, and I believe Mr. Warren follows me and after that I'm not quite sure.


MR. WARREN:  I anticipate that I will be perhaps a half an hour or a shade more.  Having gone through the EnVision experience, I'm not prepared to predict how deep that shadow may be, though.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I think I'm going after Mr. Warren, and I believe we'll be about 90 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, I'll be cross‑examining on behalf of CME and will be between 30 minutes and an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I will be cross‑examining on behalf of Superior and, subject to review of transcript, hope to be no more than one half-hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Madam Chair, Tom Adams will be doing cross for Energy Probe and probably no more than 15 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Do we have everyone?  Thank you.  I think that takes us well into tomorrow.  So, Mr. Thompson, if you could keep on the ‑‑ your eye on the clock and give us an appropriate break time for lunch, that would be helpful, sometime between 12:00 and 12:30.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Thompson goes, I wonder if I could seek my leave of the Board and return tomorrow.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Ms. DeMarco.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, just to pick up on a couple of points that you outlined in your examination in‑chief, first of all, with respect to the budget process, I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 4, which is the budget letter.  


Who is most familiar with this on the panel?  Do you know what it's all about, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, it's yet to be determined exactly what is for me to respond to.  It would either be myself or Mr. Player.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, Mr. Thompson, if I could help?


MR. THOMPSON:  It's the 2006 budget letter.  This is a document that precedes the presentation ‑‑ the preparation of the budget by EGD in every year, as I understand it; am I correct?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And if you look at page 2 of 25 of this letter, you will see spelled out in the letter the strategic objectives.  Do you see that?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is this letter prepared by management?


MR. PLAYER:  It is indeed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are you responsible for this letter, Mr. Player?


MR. PLAYER:  I am ultimately responsible for it, but this goes to the entire senior management team for laying out those strategic objectives.


MR. THOMPSON:  I looked quickly through those strategic objectives, and I could see nothing in there about the extraordinary and significant pressures about which you have been speaking in your evidence in‑chief.  Am I missing something?


MR. PLAYER:  I believe that letter is dated October 18th, 2004, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.


MR. PLAYER:  That was the direction that we gave to the management group in the departments to follow a budget, and I think, as we discussed, during the budget process, when we saw the budget come back to us on a consolidated basis in December, and then went away and looked at it in comparison to our strategic plan through that January and February period, we then determined that we were not properly incorporating all of the external factors that we're seeing take place in the marketplace. 


I mean, there are certain things in here in terms of being best in class and safe, in terms of enhancing customer satisfaction, which are things that we did talk to earlier this morning.  But, in terms of actually driving it up a notch with regard to the focus on plant integrity, I think we probably came to that realization more so when we reviewed the strategic plan in January and February.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the rigorous budget process that your staff follows is the process outlined in this budget letter; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  It's the process that we follow pretty much every year, and I think that if there are extraordinary circumstances, then you bring those extraordinary circumstances to bear, as we did in the January, February period.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the process that the staff follows leads to a presentation to the executive management team; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  That is correct, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  And we find that presentation, in terms of the ‑‑ just backing up, the schedule specified in the budget letter, before we put it aside, which you will find at page 8 of ‑‑ well, it's actually pages 7 and 8 of the document.  The schedule is driving towards a final budget, it indicates, in mid- to late- December, and then EMT, which I understand stands for executive management -- what does it stand for?  Executive management team?

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Approval in the first two weeks of January.  

     Just stopping there.  That's what the budget schedule called for? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's the normal process that we would typically follow.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Then the -- and then moving to the presentation to the executive management team - the presentation in December - we find that in Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25.  I’d ask you to turn that up, please.  

     You’ll find this document -- it’s -- there are no pages numbered, so I guess I'll have to tell you where to find it.  Excuse me.  

     It's about -- it looks like it’s about ten pages in.  There's some e-mails, there’s a rate case agenda, evidence requirements, a rate-case schedule, and then an e-mail, and, then, the executive management team presentation, December 17, 2004.   Do you see that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that that is the presentation made to the executive management team on December 17, 2004? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that would tie in with the December date in the budget process schedule. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And now, who is on the executive management team? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Mr. Schultz, Mr. Beaumont and myself, in addition to Mr. Neilis, who is the head of Government Regulatory Communications, Ms. Haberbush, who is the Director of HR --  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MR. PLAYER:  -- and, oh yes, Mr. Pleckaitis - thank you - who is vice president of operations --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. 

     MR. PLAYER:  -- and Mr. Lewis of (inaudible)

     MR. THOMPSON:  Quite a team. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And, again, just looking quickly through this presentation, I don't see anywhere in it the extraordinary and significant pressures about which you spoke at length in the examination in-chief.  Am I missing something? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think, perhaps, the only thing you're missing is that we said that, after this presentation, we got together in January and February of '05 to review this, along with our strategic plan, and said it was deficient, and we needed to take further actions with regard to our budget in order to properly align ourselves with those extraordinary events.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I’ll just follow up with that in a minute.  But in this executive management team presentation, which represents the work of your staff, I don't see anything in here about major safety concerns.  Am I missing something? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I will just add to that.  Safety and reliability are our primary purpose in operating gas distribution.  It would be built into this budget, and every budget that preceded this.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess the way I would interpret that, Mr. Schultz, is this:  your staff is

highly-sensitized to safety concerns --  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  As they should be.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- right.  And yet there is nothing in this budget that reflects those concerns, in words, that I can see, or in numbers.  That somehow surfaced later.  Is that fair? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would not suggest that that would be fair, Mr. Thompson.  We do look at all of those aspects, from time to time.  Our staff would bring forward what they felt would be required.  We continued to get information, in terms of risk assessment.  We continued to get information, in terms of the deterioration rate of our cast iron and bare steel.  And we reviewed that with staff and, as we went through it and looked at what our requirements are, in terms of providing a safe and reliable distribution system, we were no longer comfortable that that was adequate.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, just moving along, in terms of the financial highlights in this presentation, this is your staff's conclusion at the end of their work.  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 5, it looks like it’s page 16 of 37, we see capital expenditures there, $326.9 million -- the second bullet point; correct? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Sorry, is that in that same presentation? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's in the same presentation.  On the bottom right-hand corner there are page numbers -- 

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, okay, good. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  and I'm at page 16 of 37.  The staff capital budget was 326.9 million, an increase of 78.9 million.  And I believe that’s above the budget for 2005 -- the Board-approved budget.  Is that your understanding? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's above the 2005 estimate.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  But it's in the 240 to 250 range. 

     MR. PLAYER:  That budget was, correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the budget you're now claiming, in this case, is $458 million; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I believe that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     Customer additions, you were making a big point in-chief about 50,000 customers a year as being the fastest-growing utility in – second fastest growing in North America, I believe is what you said.  But that's not a big deal for Enbridge, is it?  50,000 a year? 

     MR. PLAYER:  For the last nine years we’ve exceeded 50,000.  We were not reaching that level prior to that; correct.

     MR. THOMPSON:  If you look at page 18 of 37, of this presentation -- and, really, the previous page as well, 17 of 37 and 18 of 37, the customer additions, for 2006, are down to 49,000, from 56 in 2004; correct? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So 2006 isn't an unusually strong growth year.  It's, in fact, a little less strong than previous years.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I want to refer back to some comments that I had made earlier. 

     Madam Chair, you’ll recall that we talked about a stepped or a quantum leap.  We talked about having to reinforce for the growth.  It is not linear.  So, Mr. Thompson is attempting to identify that 50,000 per year should not be anything different than previous years.  Quite frankly, when you have to reinforce the current, existing system you have, to continue to be able to provide the growth, it is substantially more dollars.  And you can't look at it on a linear basis in a year-to-year. 

     MR. PLAYER:  If I could also add on that, I'm not sure that this growth is all related just to the mass-market customer growth.  What we also see coming up from the public-policy direction of the government is this need for supporting power generation, for supporting that conversion from electric to gas, and that's not all in the mass market.  Those are large volumes.  So maybe few customers, but it has significant implications for the future and the size of our plant, and the distribution system that underpins that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, this budget, if you look at page 27 of 37, included reinforcement projects.  You will see a third bullet point:

“System-improvement capital is up 20.8 million, primarily due to the Newmarket reinforcement project.” 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  That's true.  It was included in there.  That was a preliminary design that had been done over the course of the past year.  In late November, through December, early January, they continued to evaluate their projections in growth, so that number actually changed.  The design of that project and what we thought was appropriate did change between the time of this presentation and what we filed in the rate case from 20 million to 36 million, and that came as a recommendation out of the same staff that had originally prepared this number.


MR. THOMPSON:  I would suggest to you, in this particular budget presentation prepared by your staff, there is no evidence of this extraordinary pressure situation that you've described in your evidence in‑chief.  Do you agree or disagree?


MR. PLAYER:  I think if we're to be faulted in this, it's perhaps that we didn't plan this early enough in terms of giving a direction to our staff.  But I think if we were simply to take the consensus that would have come out from our staff and from the departments, that would probably be a lack of showing leadership if we just passed that on.  


So we took that budget.  We looked at it and we said, Now wait a minute, are there changes that are influencing the future that we're not addressing in this budget?  And we threw it back and said, No, this is not adequate.  We need to revisit this budget and work it up to properly address the future requirements of this industry in the province.  And --

MR. THOMPSON:  So the executive management team sent it back for more capital spending; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I just want to address two aspects of it.  This particular presentation that was made to the executive management team is part of an iterative process.  It was not complete in December.  It was not intended to be complete in December.  If the guidelines of when we -- the schedule we would have put in place of when we would have filed an application with the Ontario Energy Board would have been met, it would have been closer to the final.  


We continued to review this.  We have strategic plans.  We had two of them this year, one in January and one in February.  All of those factors come into play.  It simply isn't a matter of senior management having looked at the budget and said it is inadequate.  We looked at it.  We aligned it with the strategic plan.  We addressed where we needed to go forward, what the province wanted to do, from electricity, supply shortage where -- getting natural gas fit in.  We looked at a number of different factors, not simply what the staff would have put forward and simply asked them to increase it.  


We believe this budget that we have filed, the application and the dollars that are in there, meet the needs both short term and long term, of the ratepayers that we serve.


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I am sure it was quite unintentional, but Mr. Player was cut off sort of midstream in an answer just prior to that.  Maybe it has been addressed now by Mr. Schultz, anyway, but if it hasn't, I just wondered if Mr. Player could have an opportunity to finish his answer.


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't mind you guys cutting one another off.  That's fine.


MR. CASS:  It was -- actually, your question came in and Mr. Player had just said the word "and", but perhaps it's been addressed.


MR. PLAYER:  It's fine, Mr. Cass.  It's been addressed.


MR. LADANYI:  If I could help Mr. Thompson here a little bit, I think indicative of the process that went on after the initial preliminary budget was presented in December and the final rate case filing, which happened in March, can be actually seen in some of the documents that have been filed in this rate case.  I wanted to turn you or take you to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, which is Consumers Coalition of Canada Interrogatory No. 16, page 56.  


You can see there, when you turn to that document ‑‑ I will give you a moment.


MR. THOMPSON:  Page, what, sorry?


MR. LADANYI:  Let's go back to it again.  Sorry.  It's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 56.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, page 56.  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Now, that document was prepared by Mr. Andy Wilton, who works in the planning department.  He is one of the managers in the planning department, and ultimately it ended up with Mr. Beaumont.  And here, Mr. Wilton outlines some of the additional reinforcement projects which had to be included in the budget, and he describes each one and the reasons for each one here.  


As you can see, there are valid reasons for each one.  I don't want to read them to you.  There is good explanations for each project, and we can address them in turn, I guess, when the capital budget panel comes on later on.  But as you can see here, these are all to address customer needs, to address issues about the pressure and class location changes.  These are all very valid projects and they're properly supported.  


So rather than being strictly as you're characterizing it, as some kind of a top-down process, this is a process that involved everybody in the company, and particularly the planning department, that looked at the needs of the customers that they require to serve the customers and identify them to senior management, and senior management then went ahead and approved this.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we probably should go back, Mr. Ladanyi, to page 36 of this exhibit to put this in proper context, because what we see here is the only documentation I can find in the record that indicates what happened after the presentation to the executive management team in December.


And what we see here, in the middle of the page, is an e‑mail - I think it's from you, Mr. Beaumont - dated January 24, 2005 to Mr. Schultz saying:  

"Jim, here is a high‑level stab at what I think you are looking for."


And then you go on and you would have some scenarios for the cast-iron replacement program being accelerated; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  There is nothing in the record, that I can see, where Mr. Schultz issued anything in writing to trigger this further scrutiny.  Is there anything in writing on this?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I don't recall anything specifically in writing, but, as I indicated earlier in my comments, I was uncomfortable with the number of leaks, the number of breaks we have on cast-iron.  We were faced with hearing in other jurisdictions some breaks in cast-iron.  


We saw a number of issues that would take place, and I continued to challenge Mr. Beaumont, as he indicated in the mandate I gave him, Are we in fact providing the most safe and reliable system that we can?


And he has provided me in the past, through the risk assessment, the amount of cast-iron we should be taking out of service because of deterioration.  I challenged him to see whether we could do it quicker, because, as I indicated before, I do not feel comfortable.  If there is an incident that takes place, I know I would have difficulty living with it.  I'm sure other people in this room would also.  


And as a result of looking at that, I continued to challenge him.  So I didn't put in writing a specific, Do this in three years, this year.  In fact, the truth be known, I asked him if we could do it in a year.  The longer it takes before we replace deteriorating cast-iron, the more risk we have, and I would like to eliminate that as quickly as we can.


MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, just a verbal, Can we do it faster?  Were you aware that the cast-iron mains replacement program was a program that was established many years ago and had a certain pace to it?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I was very well aware of that, and when Mr. Beaumont told me that, in fact, the number of breaks on our cast-iron per 100 kilometres of pipe was larger in 2004 than it was five years previous, when we in fact we were replacing the most break-prone cast-iron on our systems, I was not comfortable that our program was, in fact, meeting the needs and, in fact, would ensure minimum risk to continue to operate in a safe and reliable manner.


MR. BEAUMONT:  To add a little bit to that, we were all ‑‑ we're all well aware of the program we had in place to replace cast iron.  As I talked about before, one of the things we've been trying to do, though, is be a bit more effective or more sophisticated in assessing the risks, and that work has been going on.  It's not like we woke up one day and said, Oh, we have got a more risky plant.  This is something that takes a fair bit of thought, a fair bit of analysis, and we have been doing that.  And a big part of what we've been also trying to do is make sure that it is clearly understood, in terms of how that risk falls into the prioritization of all the risks that we have in the company, you know, and we have a lot of discussions about this in terms of:  Where should we be focussing?  What should we be doing?  Have we got it right?  Have we not got it right.  Could we do something different?  And that's the kind of conversation that takes place.  


So there was no written memo from Mr. Schultz to myself that says "do this", absolutely right.  There was a whole series of conversations in the context of a whole series of other conversations related to assessing what is the right things to do in our -- looking after our plant.

     MR. THOMPSON:  This is conversations between members of the executive management team?  Is that what you're referring to? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  There’s a whole -- this is -- a lot of people are involved in this process - people who are, daily, looking after the plant, people in engineering, that are assessing whether the situation has changed - in conversations that Mr. Schultz and myself, and other members of the executive team, including, particularly, Mr.  Pleckaitis, have with respect to the nature of our plant.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And these conversations, Mr. Schultz, I think you indicated one of the factors in which the executive management team looked at the initial budget presented by staff, were the strategic goals.  Did I understand that correctly? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if you’d be good enough to turn up Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 10, page 45.  This is page 42 of Enbridge Inc.'s 2004 annual report.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Could you just repeat that? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 10, page 45.  That's -- number 45 is in the top right-hand corner.  In the bottom left, it’s number -- it’s page 42 of the report.  

     This is discussing strategy for the gas-distribution business.  And it says:

“While EGD will, again, be under a cost-of-service regime in 2005, and earnings will be exposed to variances from the components included in the forecast cost-of-service, it continues to believe that an incentive -- an incentive-based regulatory model is advantageous for customers and shareholders.  To this end EGD will be advancing alternate rate-making models to the OEB through the Natural Gas Forum, which has been initiated for the purpose of exploring options for better regulation of the evolving gas market.  EGD will pursue an alternative regulatory model for implementation by 2007 ...”  

And then it goes on and finishes the sentence.  

     Am I correct that, as of the timing of these changes that were made to the budget presented by your staff, EGD was pursuing a regulatory -- an alternate regulatory model, i.e., incentive regulation for implementation by 2007? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I think there are several things we’ve got to look at here.  Enbridge Gas Distribution has always been in favour of moving to an incentive regulation model.  I believe, the company believes, that it is in the best interests of both the ratepayers and the shareholders to move in that type of model.  We have made the statement for many years. 

     When the Natural Gas Forum process began, we had hoped that, by 2007, there would be an opportunity to move to an acceptable incentive regulation system.   When the report for the Natural Gas Forum did come out, we were pleased to see that the Ontario Energy Board identified that it would look forwards incentive regulation, but it appears that it would be later than that.  We did not know that, at the time of the writing of this document.  

     I will tell you Enbridge Inc., as well, is favourable towards incentive regulation.  If I look at other parts of the Enbridge Inc. organization, like oil pipelines, there's been incentive regulation in place for more than ten years.  You know, in the first ten years, there's been $107 million after-tax savings that was shared between the customers and the company.  I believe that, as one, and I believe that, if there’s the appropriate incentive-regulation mechanism in place for Enbridge Gas Distribution, there's also going to be significant benefit for the ratepayers.  So, yes, all of my staff would have known that, conceptually and directionally, that's where we’d like to see it go, because it would be in the best interests for both.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So am I correct, Mr. Schultz, that one of the considerations that prompted the executive management team to prompt further changes to the budget was the prospect of incentive regulation coming into effect in 2007? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I disagree with that, Mr. Thompson.  We had no idea, whether, in fact, the Ontario Energy Board, in the Natural Gas Forum report, would even be supportive of incentive regulation.  I have, to this date, no idea what type of incentive regulation may, in fact, be put in place, if any.  And at that time, we had no idea on timing.  So we would have hardly suggested that 2006 would be needed for an incentive regulation that we didn't know what would look like, or exactly what timing -- or, in fact, if it would ever occur.  It, would, certainly have entered their minds to say, If we could move in that -- because that's the way we would like to move, as a company.  

     Because quite frankly, with all due respect to this process, I would rather have people like Mr. Beaumont and Mr. Player focusing on how we can operate our business more effectively for the benefit of the ratepayers, than for them to go through the length of time it takes to go through this type of process.  So, fundamentally, that's what we are in favour of, and we believe that will be in the best interests of all parties.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Then, well, are you now contradicting what’s stated in the annual report?  The annual report says:

“EGD will pursue an alternate regulatory model for implementation by 2007.”

     This was before the Natural Gas Forum had reported. 

     What I asked you was, was that one of the factor?  Your planned pursuit of that model for implementation by 2007, that influenced the request that changes be made to the budget? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, first off, we influenced it through the Natural Gas Forum.  We are a proponent, I've stated that.  In the Natural Gas Forum, we identified that we felt it was in the best interest to move to incentive regulation.  That's nothing to do with the 2006 application.  For all we know is, that the Ontario Energy Board may have come out and said, We don't believe, for the next five years, it's appropriate.  So how does that relate to 2006?  I am a little confused.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me try and alleviate your confusion.  The annual report suggests that Enbridge Gas Distribution, as of early 2007 - perhaps as of early 2005, end of 2004 - was pursuing a plan for alternate regulatory model for implementation by 2007.  

     That, to me, means one of your strategic goals at that time was implementation of incentive regulation by 2007.  Of course, you didn't know whether it could be achieved or not, but that was one of your goals.  

     Was it one of your goals? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It is one -- Mr. Thompson, it is one of our desires to move to incentive regulation, for the benefit of the ratepayers and balanced with the shareholders.  We believe we can provide the most effective results in moving in that direction.  

     You could probably see that in previous Enbridge Inc. annual reports.  That's been consistent for the last several years, that we believe, as a gas distribution utility, and as a pipeline and energy distribution business, we can best serve our customers and our ratepayers with that type of environment.  So that will be there, and will continue to be there.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  You know, I’d like to add just one piece on -- you know, as it relates to system reliability or safety capital expenditures.  To me, the two are absolutely independent.  In fact, you know, whatever an incentive-regulation mechanism looks like, if it’s causing you to make decisions that are contrary to what you've concluded are the right things to do, it's going to be a bad proposal.  So for us, we came forward with what is the right thing to do, and it matters not what the incentive regulation looks like, down the road.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, will you agree with me, panel, that a high-capital budget and high O&M expenses produces a high-revenue requirement which will benefit Enbridge Gas Distribution's shareholder, in an incentive-regulation regime.  It provides more end-room for cost-cutting. 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, first off, you'd have to know exactly what the incentive regulation looked like.  If it excluded capital, the answer is “no.”  If it, in fact, is required for safety and reliability, it really doesn't matter whether we're under cost-of-service, whether incentive regulation.  

We looked at what we require to provide a safe and reliable system to be able to meet our customers' needs, and that's what's driven this budget.  When and if and in what form an incentive regulation takes place, we don't know, but I will repeat again we would prefer to have one, because we think we can provide the best service to our customers.  We can focus on our business and we can focus less on the regulatory process in terms of the process we're going through today and through this hearing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Enbridge has been pursuing -- proposing and pursuing a comprehensive incentive regulation scheme for some time; is that fair?


MR. SCHULTZ:  It's fair that we have been in favour of it.  I wouldn't suggest that we have been putting it forward every year, or anything of that nature.  But in any discussions, yes, we would have been in favour of that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me shift gears for just a moment and come to some documents that I actually thought Mr. Cass was going to enter in‑chief, but I will put them in now.  I think it would probably be the best place to put these in, and these are the O&M budget work sheet and the capital budget work sheet which the company had prepared at my request.  And I am grateful to them for having done so.


I believe there are copies with Mr. Battista, but perhaps if I could have them marked?


MR. BATTISTA:  The copies I had were from the e‑mail system.  The administrative clerk gave me a copy of those.  That's what I have here.  Enbridge hasn't prepared those, as of yet, for filing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I see.  I thought you had a big stack of --


MR. BATTISTA:  They came from the Board secretary.  Those were e‑mails.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I only have the two copies of these separate documents, which Mr. Hoey was kind enough to forward to me on Friday, and I wanted to file them now to provide an overview for the discussion that I'm going to have with this panel on O&M budgets and capital budgets.  


Do we have sufficient copies, Mr. Battista?


MR. BATTISTA:  I will just make sure.


MS. NOWINA:  Do other parties have copies, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  I believe they were e‑mailed out to everybody, weren't they?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, we could ‑‑ if this must be your next line of questioning, we could take an early lunch break now and sort it out.  We would like to break around 12, in any case.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's set it aside for a moment, because there is another ...

     Do you have the capital budget work sheet?


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I apologize.  I must have got my signals crossed and I didn't realize that I was to bring this forward.  But over the lunch break, I think we can make sure that we have the correct documents with copies for everyone and bring those back after lunch.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  It's a long hearing.  We're going to run into those glitches.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's then, panel, just park that topic for a moment and go back to -‑ move on to a different one.


I just wanted to get some information on the background of you, Mr. Schultz; you, Mr. Player; and, you, Mr. Beaumont.  Mr. Schultz, you're the president of the Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  You were previously a vice president in Enbridge Inc.?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Player, you're a vice president of finance for Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Have you had any previous positions or do you hold current positions in Enbridge Inc.?


MR. PLAYER:  No, I do not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Schultz, do you have any current position in Enbridge Inc.?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, Mr. Thompson.  I'm senior vice president.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Mr. Beaumont, you're the VP of engineering, I believe, for EGD?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And your CV indicates that you - I don't know if it's currently or formerly - were a director of business development for Enbridge Inc.  Do you still hold that position?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No, I do not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have any positions with Enbridge Inc.?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No, I don't.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is EGD a wholly owned ‑‑ is EGD wholly owned by Enbridge Inc.?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you just give us the governance structure of EGD, numbers of directors?


MR. SCHULTZ:  We have six ‑‑ seven directors on our board.


MR. THOMPSON:  And how many of them hold positions with Enbridge Inc.?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Three ‑‑ well, four including myself.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, in your response to IGUA Interrogatory No. 6 ‑ I don't think you need to turn this up, but you can, if you wish ‑ it's indicated, Mr. Schultz, that ‑‑ or it's suggested that you provide weekly reports to Enbridge Inc.; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, Mr. Thompson.  I do provide a weekly report of any significant events that may have taken place, whether it's operational, regulatory or financial.


MR. THOMPSON:  To whom do you report in Enbridge Inc.?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I report to Mr. Steve Letwin, who is the group vice president of gas strategy and development.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is the frequency weekly?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I take and endeavour to report weekly if there is something, in fact, to report.  There are weeks that go by that there isn't anything that I believe is of significance that the senior management would need to be aware of.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Mr. Player, do you report to anyone in Enbridge Inc.?


MR. PLAYER:  No, I do not.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Mr. Beaumont, do you report to anyone in Enbridge Inc.?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No, I do not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you report to Mr. Schultz?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Player, do you report to Mr. Schultz?


MR. PLAYER:  I do indeed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, what do you do?


MR. LADANYI:  Answer questions at the OEB.  No.  I report to Mr. Ross, who reports to Mr. Player.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So, Mr. Schultz, your reporting to Mr. Letwin, is it fair to describe that as an obligation; in other words, he's your superior?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so as his superior, you have an obligation to take instructions from Mr. Letwin; is that fair?


MR. SCHULTZ:  It would be fairer to state that Mr. Letwin requires me to provide him certain information.  It requires myself, though, as well, to challenge if that in fact is not in the best interests of the ratepayers.  But Mr. Letwin does request strategic plans, budgets, general updates, things of that nature.


MR. THOMPSON:  He's your corporate boss, isn't he, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, he is.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, my impression is ‑‑ and I want to ask you if this impression is valid.  My impression is that when it comes to major rate case issues pertaining to the elements of the revenue requirement involving the interests of Enbridge Inc., my impression is that Enbridge Gas Distribution needs Enbridge Inc.'s approval before it can settle those issues; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I would like clarification, in terms of your talking specifically a rate application?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well I'm talking about components of the rate application that have a major impact on Enbridge Inc., as shareholder of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     For example, corporate cost allocations, customer-care arrangements with parties in which Enbridge Inc. has an ownership interest; O&M expenses, generally; capital budget amounts which attract return:  those kinds of things.  Is it fair for me to conclude that you need Enbridge Inc.'s approval before you can resolve any of those topics? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I think the best way to describe this is that we prepare, in Ontario, here, our budgets, our rate application.  I do review the high-level aspects of a rate case with the corporate leadership team in Calgary.  They would look at that to understand and to ensure that what we were doing would be in the best interest of both parties: the ratepayers as well as the shareholders.  They would review that -- and did review our high-level 2006 rate application, and made no recommendations for change.  

     So I review that.  What the Enbridge Inc. senior management would do, as well, would be review the budget at the end of a calendar year, which has not yet happened.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I guess my point is, had they made recommendations for change, you would be obliged to implement those recommendations.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  First off, they have given me full responsibility to operate this gas-distribution utility.  They may have made recommendations, they may have asked me to -- if I've fully considered all aspects; but never have they, in the time I've been in this position, said, You must do this.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, have you ever, in your tenure as president of the company, said to Enbridge Inc., You must do this? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I have asked them, obviously, for various services.  Whether those that are provided to the entity that I'm responsible for, through services such as treasury, through pension, through other such things.  So I guess I could say, Yes, I would have asked them to do something for me, because I don't have those services within our entity, itself.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  You've asked them for things.  But if they say "no", you're stuck with the “no” answer, are you not, Mr. Schultz? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would look at other alternatives.  And if the alternative of them providing it, or providing it, was more appropriate, I would still go back to them on that basis.   

     MR. PLAYER:  Mr. Thompson, if I could interject, just with respect to -- because you did bring up about corporate cost-allocations, and that, certainly, is not a directive to this management team.  We select the services that we want.  We negotiate those services, and we decide which services we're going to take, and how much we're going to pay for those services.  So, in that respect, I just wanted that one to remove from the agenda and provide a little clarification around it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  They don't care about corporate cost-allocations; is that what you're saying? 

     MR. PLAYER:  No, I wasn't talking about care.  What I was talking about is what the process really is, as opposed to what one might think takes place.  What really takes place is that we negotiate those services, and we negotiate the prices for those services, and it's this management team that determines which services we put in place from Enbridge Inc., or from any other third party, for that matter.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, have you ever, Mr. Schultz, in your tenure as president, taken a position that is adverse to the position of Enbridge Inc. in a rate case? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That would be -- at the top of my head, Mr. Thompson, I don't recall anything that would be adverse.  But let me remind you that I am responsible for this gas-distribution organization.  And there are things like strategic plans that get put together, there are financials that are associated with that, there are other aspects, including safe and reliable operation.  And, as Mr. Player indicated earlier, our CEO, Mr. Pat Daniel, is very much in tune to safety and reliability, and continues to challenge us, in terms of operational excellence, in terms of providing the most safe environment we can.  

     So, as I look at all of those things, I know, directionally, and if there is anything substantially different than those strategic plans, then I would be challenged, and rightfully so.   But if it is along those lines, and they believe that I am meeting those requirements, I certainly do not get challenged, nor do I need to challenge back.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Whatever you do is subject to review by Mr.  -- well, subject to approval by Mr. Letwin, and review by the corporate leadership team in Calgary.  Isn't that what you've told me? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I’ve told you that is the reporting relationship, Mr. Thompson.  But keep in mind that the corporate office is 2,000 miles away.  I do know, directionally, through approved strategic plans that our Enbridge Gas Distribution board and Enbridge Inc. board reviews, and approves -- directionally, what we would be providing from this business unit.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the involvement of Enbridge Inc. in EGD's operations, based on all of these services you say you're willingly acquiring from them, certainly, has increased since what it was in 1999.  Corporate cost-allocations in '99 are about $2 million.  Now you're seeking recovery in rates of something in excess of $21 million; correct? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That’s correct.        

     MR. THOMPSON:  So Enbridge Inc. is more immersed in the operation of the utilities than it was previously.  

     MR. PLAYER:  They’re a service provider to us.  Our operations have changed a lot.  The world has changed a lot around us.  And I think we’ve adapted to it, and we've gotten services wherever we feel we can get the most efficiency for it, for our ratepayers. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that the situation today, with Enbridge Inc., as the parent company, immersed in operations, being reported to weekly, an officer of Enbridge Inc.  Being the boss of the president of EGD -- that situation, today, contrasts quite dramatically with the situation that prevailed years ago, when the predecessor of EGD, Consumers Gas, was widely-held by the public.  

     MR. PLAYER:  And years ago, when the Consumers Gas company was widely-held by the public, we weren't the lowest O&M-cost-per-customer producer in the continent that we are today, and customers didn't have a lot of the services that they have today.  I think we've progressed this company quite significantly, and I’m very proud of that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  How do you know you weren't the lowest-cost producer then?  Is that some evidence you're referring to? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, you only have to look at the evidence that I talked about earlier, the exhibit, and you’ll find, prior to 1997, we weren't number 1 or number 2.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, cost-per-customer can be an odd statistic, when you're a utility with 1.8 million customers.  

     But let me move on to this.  In contrasting the situation where the owner of the utility is the public -- widely-held public ownership compared to this holding company arrangement that now prevails -- under the former arrangement, utility management is subject to direction from its shareholders to a vastly lesser degree.  Would you agree with that statement? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I'm sorry, there was a fair bit of preamble to that, so I missed the very gist, and I want to make sure I do have that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  My point is this.  Where you're publicly-owned, widely-held, a utility management, in effect, takes directions from its shareholders at an annual meeting, once a year, and, perhaps, any other special, general meetings of shareholders that are held during the year, but that's it; is that fair? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  In a general sense, I would agree.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And now, you're subject to weekly reporting to Mr. Letwin, and direction from the Calgary management team --  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Well first, Mr. Thompson -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- it's a different scenario. 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It is a different scenario.  But I can also tell you, I will pick up the phone and call Mr. Letwin at any given time for his advice and guidance -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You don't? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  -- I will.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

     MR. SCHULTZ:  And he will pick up the phone and call me, as well, in a general sense.  The weekly report is simply an opportunity, once a week, to make sure, quite frankly, the corporate office knows what's happening in this gas-distribution utility. 


MR. PLAYER:  To be aligned with a world class operator like Enbridge Inc. is, as compared to being kind of a one-of little gas distribution company sitting in the province of Ontario -- I think, got just tremendous opportunities for this company, and I think we have taken good advantage of those.  I think we have been able to drive our productivity quite significantly.  I think we have been able to do a lot in terms of the customer front, and I think there continues to be opportunities for this company as a result of its association with Enbridge Inc.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will let you end on a high note, Mr. Player, before lunch.  That's an appropriate point.


MR. CASS:  Madam, just before we break, the documents that Mr. Thompson had mentioned have been brought to me.  I wonder if they might be passed out now so that people will have them over lunch.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Cass.


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give that Exhibit No. K6.4, O&M and capital ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  I think it should be two separate ones.


MR. BATTISTA:  K6.4 will be O&M schedules and K6.5 will be capital schedules.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.4:  O&M SCHEDULES

EXHIBIT NO. K6.5:  CAPITAL SCHEDULES

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Battista.


MR. CASS:  While Mr. Hoey is passing that out, I might mention, for the benefit of any other parties who might be listening in, I believe these were e‑mailed out at the end of last week, so I think that people should have them.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  We will now break until 1:15 p.m.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:20 p.m.     

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.   Are there any preliminary matters before we begin, again, with Mr. Thompson? 

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, further work has been done on the schedule -- or anticipated schedule for the hearing.  I don't know whether the Board wants me to address that at this time, or not? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I'd appreciate that, Mr. Cass.  

     MR. CASS:  All right.  Yes, we have a copy of an estimated schedule.  It bears the heading:  “2006 Rate Case Template.”  Mr. Hoey is passing that around.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Do you want to make any comments, on it, Mr. Cass? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, if I could, quickly, Madam Chair.  I hope it would be appropriate to say that, perhaps, parties should treat this as a working document that, of course, will change from time to time, because the schedule is only an estimate.  Just a couple of points that, I think, indicate the need for some further work and discussion on this.  

     First, I believe there’s at least one intervenor’s time estimate that did not get incorporated into this, so that will require, perhaps, some further discussion, and another iteration of the document.  

     Second, on the individual O&M panel, there was an intervenor that gave a global time for all of the O&M panels, and the company took that and just broke it down amongst the panels.  In fact, that meant that on three of the individual O&M issues, there would not have been anybody else to cross-examine, except for the intervenor that had a global time.  So that's another area where I think the company can go back with the intervenors and sort out whether there is, in fact, a need for those individual panels.  

     That's all just by way of saying, If we could treat it as a work-in-progress, and we will continue to refine it as the hearing go ahead 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's fine Mr. Cass.  We certainly will.  I suspect it will always be a work-in-progress, throughout the entire hearing, so, again, I encourage intervenors to work with you to modify it, and Board Staff to work with you to modify it, based on our schedules.  So we will use it as a starting point, and perhaps, every couple of days, or whenever you feel it is appropriate, you can bring forward an update.  

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Thompson, are you ready to proceed?

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I had a preliminary matter.  I did leave on the dias; and circulated to parties, another document that I’d like to have marked just with these exhibits that were marked prior to the lunch break.  It is entitled “Breakdown of Customer Care.”  It's a breakdown of the customer-care line item in the O&M budget worksheet, Exhibit K6.4.  Could that be marked as Exhibit K6.6, please?  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, please mark that as Exhibit K6.6, breakdown of customer care.  

EXHIBIT NO. K6.6:  BREAKDOWN OF CUSTOMER CARE, BEING A BREAKDOWN OF THE CUSTOMER-CARE LINE ITEM IN THE O&M BUDGET WORKSHEET (EX. K6.4)  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 3; RESUMED:

Jim Schultz; Previously Sworn


Scott Player; Previously Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn

Glenn Beaumont; Previously Sworn  

CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, panel, I think this is probably best to be done with you, Mr. Ladanyi.  I just wanted to help the Board get a high-level understanding of Exhibits K6.4 and K6.5.  I think you can help us here, can’t you? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I'll try.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And if we look at -- first of all, with Exhibit K6.4, the O&M budget worksheet, and taking the column 4, which is the 2005 settlement proposal:  am I correct that what we see there, at line 16, is the total settlement in that case, Board-approved, of $286.5 million, which excluded DSM expense? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then, on the next line, we have the DSM approved expense in that proceeding, of 14.8 million, bringing the subtotal, including DSM, to $303.3 million; is that fair? 

     MR. LADANYI:  301.3.     

     MR. THOMPSON:  301.3, correct.  And then, within that budget, there was a corporate cost-allocation amount of 13.5 million, which would appear in various line items; is that fair? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what we see, at line 18 in column -- sorry, line 19 in column -- line 20 in column 4, is the 286.5, and, backing out corporate cost-allocation, the Board-approved amount, including -- excluding - excuse me - DSM and corporate cost-allocation, is $273 million; is that fair? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then we see, down below that, in lines 23 through to 27, the DSM amount, in line 20, 14.8 million, the corporate cost-allocation amount of 13.5 million in line 26, and the O&M, excluding DSM and corporate cost-allocation of 273 million, in line 27; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And to break up the 273 million between customer-care costs and other O&M costs, the customer-care costs are 110.1 million, which we find at line 3 in column 4. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the "other" would be the 273 minus the 110.9, or 162.9?  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I will.        

    MR. THOMPSON:  And so that the four, if you will, “categories of Board-approved” in that configuration, just to recapitulate, would be DSM, 14.8 million; corporate cost-allocation, 13.5 million; customer care, 110.1 million; and O&M, other than customer care, 162.9; for a total of 301.3.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I will.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  

     Moving over, then, to the budget amount being claimed in this proceeding -- and, perhaps, just if you go to column 7, and the numbers that appear in lines 23 to 27, the total amount you're claiming in this case is $348 million.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That includes DSM and corporate cost-allocation? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the DSM amount, absent the fuel switching of 1.5 million, which appears in column 10, is 18.9 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the corporate cost-allocation amount is -- at line 26, column 7, is 21.3 million? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, that's right.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct? And then the remainder is 307.8 million, which, if we break it down between customer care, which we see in line 3 is 122.3 million, and the other than customer care, 185.5 million.  Would you take those numbers, subject to check? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I will.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So comparing Board-approved to your claim, the DSM is allowed at 14.8; you're claiming 18.9 million; correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, after changing the fuel switching into the opportunity development budget.

     MR. THOMPSON:  The corporate cost-allocation amount is currently 14.5; you're claiming 21.3? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  We're asking for 21.3 to be approved. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The customer care amount is currently 110.1 million; you're claiming 122.3 million? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  We presented evidence to support 122.3.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the "other" O&M expenses, currently 162.9 million; you're claiming 185.5 million? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Again, we presented evidence to support the latter number.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Thanks.  

     Now -- just, then, going to the Exhibit K6 -- well, just before leaving K6.4, the total claim is now $348 million.  And would you take, subject to check, that that is up from the $341.3 million O&M budget, found in Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25 at page 16 of 37? 


MR. LADANYI:  If I could have a moment to turn it up.   Do you have that exhibit again?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It was the slide presentation we were looking at this morning, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25, and it's page 16 of 37 down in the bottom right-hand corner of that document.


MR. LADANYI:  I see that.  If I can just give you an explanation for the difference between the two, it really is the corporate cost allocation.  When that presentation was given to senior management in December 17th, 2004, the RCAM study had not been completed at that time and the numbers that were put in there were essentially a place holder, pending the completion of the RCAM study.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you for that.  Now moving to Exhibit K6.5 and just to highlight what we have presented here, in terms of the Board-approved amounts, we find those I believe in column 5, totalling $247.1 million for the 2005 test year.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then in column 7, what we have displayed there totalling $316.2 million are, as I understand it, the capital budget amounts reflected in this same exhibit referred to a moment ago, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25.  


I'm looking at page 26 of 37, where the total budget is indicated to be 326.9 million, and my understanding is that the 316.2 in Exhibit K6.5 is essentially that budget, less the oil and gas and net cost of retirement amounts.


MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.  Oil and gas is a non‑utility business.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And so what we see in this document is the budget that was presented in December of 2005 that we discussed this morning, in column 7, and then in column 8 we have the extent to which that budget was increased as a result of the events that took place after the presentation of the document to which I just referred?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then in columns 9 through to 13 of this presentation, what you've described there are major components in this category of items; is that right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And just to highlight them, in column 9 the item of 36.3, that is the place holder amount for the two no-name co‑gens that were reflected in your original budget?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  These were for the request for proposals for our power generation projects.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then in the next column we have amounts entitled, "Additional Reinforcements", and these were additional to the reinforcements reflected in the $316.2 million budget?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then in the next column, in column 11, we have the bare-steel, cast-iron main replacement, and there we see an item of $80 million on line F of column 11, and then below it a number of $30 million, and my understanding is that the $30 million amount was reflected in the 316.2 million budget and that represented replacement of the cast-iron mains on the schedule that had originally applied?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what the $80 million amount represents is a $50 million increase in capital budget, which is brought about by the acceleration of that pace of cast-iron replacements, that pace being the existing pace, and accelerating that to three years; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  The next column relates to aggressive system expansion that was added after the December 17 presentation.  Could you just describe, briefly, what that is all about?


MR. LADANYI:  These are projects to serve customers in outlying communities.  We want to bring the benefits of natural gas to a number of communities in central region, specifically Bobcaygeon, Fenelon Falls, and also there is, I think, about five or six ‑ I don't have the name of them right now ‑ in the Ottawa region or eastern region.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm sure we'll get into this in more detail on the capital panel, but is it fair to say this is system expansion of projects that would be marginally -‑ would be less economically feasible than the ones originally included in the $316.2 million budget?


MR. LADANYI:  I don't know if I can make that kind of generalized statement.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we will come back to it later.  Then in the final column, we have all other line item capital expenditures that operate to make the combined total of the amounts in columns 9 through 13, $458.8 million?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Okay, with that sort of context and back to the policy concepts, the ‑‑ let me try it this way, panel.  Perhaps I will direct this to you, Mr. Schultz.  You would agree that Enbridge Inc. is an unregulated enterprise?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Enbridge Inc. has a corporate office, is -- it has regulated entities within it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, but it, itself, is unregulated?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Would you agree with me that unregulated enterprises, in their approach to budgeting both capital and operating, have as one of their priority objectives to enhance the returns of their shareholders?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  A company that has shareholders obviously is looking to return and maximize that return for their shareholders, absolutely.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in the context of an unregulated enterprise, I suggest to you the manner in which budgeting is approached to achieve that objective is, first of all, with respect to operating budgets, they tend to target cuts, real cost cuts, where possible?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I would not suggest that that would be the primary driver.  It depends upon what they're trying to achieve.  If they're trying to achieve some expansion, some growth, some new programs and initiatives, they would hardly cut in that area.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree that an unregulated enterprise would probably approach a budgeting in attempting to confine cost increases to an overall percentage less than the rate of inflation?


MR. SCHULTZ:  No, I would not agree with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  What do you ‑‑


MR. SCHULTZ:  There are drivers, as we explained earlier, that are higher than inflation, things like compliance issues, insurance, salary pressures.  They're not necessarily referring to inflation.  You attempt to, as we have, put in place factors to minimize the costs.


And I will tell you, Mr. Thompson, I can assure you that I look at that, as well, as a regulated entity.  I have here in front of me a newsletter that I send out.  It's called "President's Message".  In it, we have our scorecard.  Our scorecard, for example, identifies what the company's net income is, department O&M costs per billed customer, customer additions, revenue, our organic growth, our customer side, our public safety and reliability index, customer satisfaction, lost-time injuries, company work environment, we take all of these things extremely serious.  We are a regulated entity, but we look to continue to provide productivity.  We would not be at the lowest O&M-costs-per-customer if we didn't do these types of things.  

     Each one of my employees has a score-card that will roll up to this corporate scorecard.  I believe very strongly in this, and the results show themselves.  

     Mr. Player referred, earlier, to American Gas Association data.  Now you may not be able to see it real clear from here, but I think you can see the bar that shows in red?  That, in fact, is Enbridge.  And, in a comparison of almost 70 companies that the American Gas Association compared to, we are the lowest O&M-cost-per-customer in 2004.  

     Now when you look at it from that perspective, regulated, not regulated, we provide the best service we can -- safety, reliable and the lowest cost to our customers, and I think these results demonstrate that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So are you saying that unregulated enterprises do not strive to hold cost increases to a rate less than the rate of inflation? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It depends upon their growth platform and strategy. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, generally speaking, is that a common strategy of unregulated enterprises, to try and manage to inflation? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Mr. Thompson, I think you mean regulated.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Unregulated. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Unregulated would manage to inflation? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Try to manage. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Definitely not.  Not if you’re in growth -- I mean, talk about a Microsoft, talk about a Dell:  do you think those folks are managing their costs to inflation?  I don't think so.  It all depends whether you're in a growth industry, or whether you’re in a stable or declining industry.  It very much depends on that. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's talk about capital expenditures.  Would you agree with me that an unregulated enterprise would probably attempt to manage to -- its capital expenditures to confine them to the most economically-feasible projects, those that produce the highest returns? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  I would agree with that.  I think whenever you're dealing with capital, you're trying to find a portfolio mix that drives towards the highest amount that you can achieve.  

     Now, having said that, it is a portfolio mix.  So, within that portfolio, you have some projects which have lesser returns.  But you're putting them in your portfolio for other reasons:  perhaps, longer-term strategic perspective, perhaps it's a customer-service reason.  But you, also, are trying to build that portfolio so it maximizes a return above your cost of capital.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  My point is that -- is this:  when you look at it from an unregulated-enterprise perspective, the tendency is -- you’ll see cost-cutting and the screening out of uneconomically-feasible capital projects, as a way of achieving the goal of enhancing the returns to the shareholders.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, I would agree, and as we do, as well.  I mean, in our system-expansion projects, we have a profitability index that we work towards.  If that analysis doesn't show that we're delivering a 0.8 -- you may be familiar with the profitability index.  If we don't realize a 0.8, it is not in our portfolio.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, even 0.8, though, is less than full economic feasibility, right?

     MR. PLAYER:  That was the guideline that was set out by the Board, and we simply followed that.  In fact, in the last few years, we’ve been higher than .8.  

     MR. LADANYI:  We are a monopoly utility.  We are required to follow Board's own guidelines for investments in system-expansion projects.   And that's the whole concept of the EBO-188 guideline.  The idea is that our entire portfolio of expansion projects should be at 1.1 -- the entire portfolio, which is the entire investment portfolio, all of the investments made in a particular year, on a present-value basis.  

     And then, each individual project has to reach a threshold of 0.8.   And the idea here is that it will be a cross-subsidy between individual projects in a year:  some will be far above .8, above 1, and others will be below 1, but between .8 and 1.  The idea with the EBO-188 was, as the Board set out, that there would be a -- some level of cross-subsidy, but it would not be an undue cross-subsidy between projects.  

     That's how the system expansion in Ontario works.  These are Board’s own rules; it is not anything that we made up. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.   Well, I was looking -- trying to look at this, first, from the perspective of EI, which is the shareholder in EGD.  And the point I was trying to make was, EI, as an unregulated enterprise, has a priority-objective of enhancing its returns.  It’s not a public utility; it's an unregulated enterprise.  Do you agree with that statement? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I do.  And the way that it greatly increases its return is not by gouging its customers:  it does it by growth and expansion.  And it operates a number of regulated businesses, principally, the pipeline business, that takes the largest pipeline in the world, I believe, from the western Canada right through to Montreal.  

     And because of the expansion that it has done on its system, it's been able to, over time, increase those returns.  But it’s not by gaining more out of the cap shippers group.    

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's take a look at just what those returns have been.  And if you wouldn't mind turning up Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 13, which is IGUA 13.  Again, this is looking at EIs returns.  

     Do you have that, panel? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I'm not sure that I've got that with me.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 13.  

     MR. PLAYER:  I do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so EI, with this portfolio of utilities businesses, and, of course, some other businesses, has achieved returns taking it from 2000 to 2004, would you take, subject to check:  2000, 17.0 percent; 2001, 17.7 percent; 2002, 18.7 percent; 2003, 19.0 percent; and 2004, 17.0 percent -- would you take those numbers, subject to check? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, we would.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And would you take, subject to check, that those returns on equity are, approximately, at 1.7 to 1.8 times a utility-allowed return?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It would really depend upon which utility you were talking about.  There are many utilities that earn much higher than that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm talking about, obviously, EGD, and Canadian regulated utilities.  If I confined the high-level estimate of 1.7 - 1.8 times the Canadian utilities, would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  If you refer to Enbridge Gas Distribution, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  

     And just -- if you can help me, Mr. Player, with the proportion of EI's capital structure, that is equity.  And EI's annual return for 2004 is filed as Exhibit I, tab 10

-- sorry, tab 11, schedule 10 --so it’s in this same book.   And I find -- I think I find EI's capital structure, at least its balance sheet, at page 63 of 103.  That's as of

-- I'm looking at as of December 31, 2004.  

     MR. PLAYER:  I've got that schedule in front of me now, yes.   

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And what is EI's equity ratio? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, the ratios are in another schedule here, someplace.  Maybe they're not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it -- well, tell me how we would derive it, if you could?  

     MR. PLAYER:  Simply, take the debt and the equity, and do that ratio.  But I don't have a calculator in front of me. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I think you should also take into account, Mr. Thompson, that, when you quote the equity:debt ratio for Enbridge Gas Distribution, that will be on an average of monthly-averages basis.  And there are some items included in that, and others are excluded, but -- after all, it's a deemed equity we’re talking about, and -- which is a 35 percent of Enbridge's rate base, that includes a different calculation of working capital than the an unregulated entity like Enbridge Inc. would be using.  

     So really, even if we were to take a calculator and crunch these numbers now, we would really be comparing apples and oranges.  Enbridge Inc. is not a regulated utility, and it would never calculate its working capital the way the Board requires us to calculate our working capital, so these numbers would not be comparable. 


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm just trying to get the equity ratio of Enbridge Inc.  Could somebody give me an undertaking as of December 31, 2004?  I did some number crunching.  I thought it was about 28 percent, but I'm not sure I've done the right numbers.  That's why I'm asking.


MR. PLAYER:  No.  That is low.  There should be a ratio in these reports here some place.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you estimate it for me, Mr. Player, and then take it subject to check?  What do you think it is?  


MR. LADANYI:  I think it would be best if we take an undertaking, Mr. Thompson.  Perhaps we can answer it verbally on the stand later today or maybe tomorrow.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that Undertaking No. J6.1, Enbridge Inc. equity ratio for 2004.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  ENBRIDGE INC. EQUITY RATIO FOR 2004

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in terms of the interests of Enbridge Inc. in the EGD's budget, there are a number of line items in which they have a direct interest, and then some line items in which they have an indirect interest.  But the corporate cost allocation line item is one in which they have a direct interest; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And would you agree with me it's in Enbridge Inc.'s interest to increase the budget for corporate cost allocations from 13.5 million to 21.3 million?


MR. PLAYER:  I think it's in Enbridge Inc.'s interest to get full recovery of its costs, because that allocation is simply costs, and the only profit element in that at all is a small amount which has to do with the amount of capital associated with supporting those services out of the corporate office.  


My memory will fail me on this, but I think it is in the order of 250,000 or something, which is the profit element on over more than $20 million of costs.  If those costs were not being fully recovered, presumably Enbridge Inc. simply wouldn't provide the services and would cut the costs.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Enbridge Gas Distribution agreed to a corporate cost allocation amount for 2005 of $13.5 million; correct.


MR. PLAYER:  That was put forward in the study that Deloitte, I believe, did independently before the allocation methodology was reviewed in detail by Deloitte.  They have now done that, and I think we're going to see in this hearing, starting on Thursday, the appropriate cost allocation methodology brought forward, which would support $21.3 million of corporate costs being allocated to this entity.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'll try again.  Enbridge Gas Distribution, as part of the ADR agreement with intervenors, agreed to a corporate cost allocation amount for the 2005 test year of $13.5 million?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I believe 13.5 million was in the settlement that was agreed for the 2005 rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you're seeking an increase in that amount of $7.8 million, if I've done my math right?


MR. PLAYER:  We're seeking additional recovery of the $7.8 million, but we've been paying at the full amount of the cost allocation, because that's what it costs to support this entity.  We don't have full recovery in rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  But from the ratepayers' perspective, it's in the ratepayers' interest to limit the increase to something less than $7.8 million; right?


MR. PLAYER:  I would beg to differ on that one, because what's really in the ratepayers' interests is to get the most efficient costs for the services provided, and if we had to do this on stand‑alone or go out to a third party to provide that, I can assure you that those costs would be higher than the 21.3 million that are being allocated for the corporate office today.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's move to another line item, customer care.  This was agreed to by Enbridge in the 2005 case at $110.1 million.  I referred to that number when I was discussing Exhibit K6.4; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  That amount was part of the settlement in 2005, but it did in no way reflect the full costs of our customer care costs in that year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, just high level, big picture, this customer care amount was adjudicated upon by the Board in the 2003 case.  The amount payable by EGD to the CWLP was found to be $7 million too high.  Do you recall that?


MR. PLAYER:  I do recall that, but in our 2004 year, we actually spent $117.3 million on our customer care costs.  So the 2005 settlement, that I believe was reduced to $110.1 million as part of that overall settlement process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what you did was you just paid to CWLP what you contracted to pay.  You essentially ‑‑


MR. PLAYER:  That's absolutely right.


MR. THOMPSON:  You essentially ignored the disallowance in the --


MR. SCHULTZ:  We honoured the contract, which would have been lower cost to the ratepayers than we would have been if we would have simply paid less.  We do have a contract in place, a legally-binding document.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But coming back, in whose interest is it to take this amount up to 122.3 million, which is the full contract amount?  I suggest to you that's in the interests of Enbridge Inc., not in the interests of ratepayers.


MR. SCHULTZ:  I would suggest, with the growth we've talked about in customers, that customer care costs do increase, and it increases beyond inflation.  Our growth is beyond inflation.  One of the measures I talked about in our scorecard here is customer satisfaction.  We have identified what our customers' requirements are.  You cannot satisfy the needs of the customers without spending some dollars to do so.  


We spend real dollars on a real contract to provide customer support, to provide them accurate billing, to provide them easily-to-understand billing, to provide them all of the needs.  We monitor those things, so we need to spend what it requires to meet the needs of the ratepayers.


MR. PLAYER:  If I can add to that briefly, when we take how much we actually incurred in our customer care costs in 2004 compared to what we're seeking in this rate case, 117 ‑‑ $117.3 million as compared to $122.3 million, that's a $5-million increase over a two-year period, which is an inflation component of about 2 percent a year, I believe.  


I would like to break that down, because that really represents in a single year about $4 million or 0.4 of 1 percent of inflation.  The customer growth is the biggest driver of that, and it costs $2.7 million.  How does that customer growth added cost come about?  Let me explain.  


First of all, it's not a year.  It's a year and a quarter, because we had a change in our year-end.  So instead of talking about 50,000 customers, we're talking about something closer to 65,000 customers.  That means we have to read meters for another 65,000 customers.  That's $6.00 per year per customer for meter readings.


In addition to that, we have to put out bills for another 65,000 customers at $18.00 per customer per year.  In addition to that, we have additional calls which come about from these new customers, and that costs us another approximately $750,000 a year for those, based on our experience with customers to date.


In addition to that, we've got credit and collection issues.  Now, the good news on this one is we are incurring another $3.3 million of costs associated with credit and collection, both in combination of bad debt provision, as well as the cost to do that, you know, running a call centre and following up on collections activities.  But we've identified $3 million of productivity benefits in our work with Accenture in order to offset that.  So it's only a .3-million-dollar increase, so that's the kind of savings are getting out of this thing in productivity.  


So to go up from $117.3 to $122.3 million, to my mind, is very good value for the ratepayers of our franchise area.


 MR. THOMPSON:  Would you lay your hands on, if you could, the IGUA evidence, Exhibit ‑‑ I think it is L11.1.  It's a binder that looks like this.  Go to tab 2 of that document and you will find excerpts from the Board's 0133

-- RP‑2002‑0133 decision with reasons.  This is where the Board found the prices you were paying to CWLP were too high.  Do you recall that case, gentlemen?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  I do recall that very vividly, in fact.  What I would like to point out, though, that we have done a tremendous amount of benchmarking on this and still believe that we are getting fair rates.  I would like to ‑‑ fair costs for that.  I would like to defer that to when Mr. McGill comes on the panel to address that.  I don't think that is appropriate for this policy panel to get into that level of detail.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I wasn't going to drill down too deeply, but I did want to draw your attention to the Board's reasons.  If you’d look at -- it really starts at paragraph 487.   And the Board does an analysis and, at paragraph 500, concludes that the range of the overpriced amount is between 2 million and 17 million, and then, if you go to paragraph 502, did some analysis on an Exhibit J21.1, and concluded that it revealed overpricing of $7.7 million.  And in paragraph 504 came up with a disallowance of $7 million.  Do you see that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I see it.  I can't say I understand it, but I see it, and I recall it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, my point is this:  as a policy consideration, did anyone at the executive-management-team level consider doing the same calculation, based on current information, to see what the 7 million would be today? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I can't say that I've done that calculation.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Have you done it, Mr. Schultz? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  No, I haven't.  But I’ve certainly looked at a number of different factors, in terms of the customers we support, the variety -- the difference from the perspective of system-gas customers versus marketers, brokers -- a number of different factors that I, personally, believe does have more of an impact in this equation than may have been considered in the past. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, this was an approach the Board applied in the interests of ratepayers, in that particular case.  Would you agree? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would, but the Board also indicated that it would be an open-tender process.  And, at the end of the contract, we very much intend to do exactly that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But we're not at the end of the contract --

     MR. SCHULTZ:  We’re not at the end of the contract. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- we’re under the auspice of this contract, where the Board said the price is too high.  And yet, you're coming in, claiming the full price.   

     MR. SCHULTZ:  We're coming in claiming what it costs.  And, as Mr. Player suggested, we have done a significant amount of benchmarking to demonstrate that, for 2006, the rates that we have applied for are reasonable and are fair, are within the range of the costs for those services. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You haven't even done the calculation of the type the Board did to test that conclusion.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. McGill, as Mr. Player indicated, will be on a later panel that will get into those details.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Mr. Thompson, if I could just add one final point on this.  I think -- I do have some good news for you, actually, and there may have been some updating taking place, that Mr. McGill will refer to, but it's in Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 4, appendix 2, page 3 of 14. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  A6, tab 2 --  

     MR. PLAYER:  Schedule 4, appendix 2 - sorry, if I've got you scurrying about, here - and then on page 3 of 14.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  3 of 14.  A6, tab 2, schedule 4, plus attachment. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Appendix 2.  Page 3.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Paragraph 6.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm getting there.     

     MR. PLAYER:  I will just read it; it’s a quick one.  It says:

“Attachment 3 to the proposed CIS service agreement between Enbridge Gas Distribution and CWLP indicates a forecast service fee, for 2006, payable by the company, of $18.1 million dollars.  This amount is $2.7 million less than the $20.9 million CIS service fee that was included as part of the company's original 2006 customer-care operating-costs budget.”  

     So, in fact, it wouldn't be $122.3 million, it would be $2.7 million less than that amount.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So the company is reducing its CIS claim to 18.1 million.  Is that the way we should read this? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct, Mr. Thompson.  And Mr. McGill will address that, when his time comes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But the -- my recollection of the Board's $7 million disallowance related to the contract with CWLP for customer care, other than CIS.  Is that your -- 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It's all part of the contract.  All part of the package.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, there are two contracts, Mr. Schultz. 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, there is, for the CIS and for the customer care.   And 100 -- well, the numbers we just described here, the 107 -- the122 that has been reduced, are a combination of those.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, we’ll drill into the detail with Mr. McGill.  

     In terms of the overall O&M amount, would you agree with me that it's in the shareholders’ interest to have that high, in the sense that cuts in spending will -- compared to approved budgets, will benefit the shareholders, rather than have it low, where the benefit flows to the ratepayers.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  What I would agree, Mr. Thompson, is the fact that you require a certain amount of dollars to operate this utility in a safe and reliable manner, and that’s in the best interests of the ratepayers and the shareholders.  That this utility continues to be able to meet the customers' needs, to be able to operate safely, and is able to grow and expand as required, and also to be able to meet the needs of the government of this province, who continue to look for opportunities to conserve electricity and alternatives for coal-fired generation.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that it’s not in the shareholders’ interest to constrain capital spending, but it is in the ratepayers' interest to constrain capital spending?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would suggest to you, Mr. Thompson, that if we constrained capital spending and put one ratepayer at risk, we would not be doing our job.  And I would doubt very much that you’d want to be in that position, either.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree that, in a transition to incentive regulation, it’s not in the shareholders’ interest to constrain either capital or operating budgets, but it is in the ratepayers' interest to do that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  No.  I think you're taking down a path here, Mr. Thompson, that is really dependent upon what incentive regulation is put in place.  We're talking about short-term.  We're talking about long-term.  It is the best interest of both the ratepayers and the shareholders to, number 1, ensure that this utility operates in a safe and reliable manner; number 2, that we are able to grow the business as our customers require; and number 3, that it's in the best interests of our shareholders, as well, that we have satisfied customers, that want us to continue to do business in this province.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  What I suggest the ratepayers are faced with, in this particular case, Mr. Schultz, is an O&M and capital -- O&M and capital budgets that are completely imbalanced in favour of the shareholder.  What's your comment on that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Madam Chair, we went through this earlier this morning, the extraordinary and significant pressures we face in this organization.  You can't do a step-by-step.  There is the stepped approach; there is, certainly, a quantum-leap-type approach that costs additional dollars.  We grow this company more than 50,000 customers per year.  You simply can't put that on a linear scale.  There are times you have to ensure that you spend the dollars that meet the safety, the reliability and the customer additional growth.  

     We have put forward a budget that we believe, in this application, meets those needs.  We believe it’s in the ratepayers' best interest, currently, as well as in the future.  And we are doing as effective a job as we can to operate this utility in the best interests of the ratepayers, as well as the shareholders.  It does take a fair balance between those two.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Would you look at -- if you still have the IGUA testimony there, if you would go to tab 1.  You have excerpts there from a Board decision in 2002, RP‑2001‑0032.


And in this decision, at page 170 at the bottom, it's paragraph 5.11.64, and bear in mind this was the situation back in 2002.  We're now in 2005, with Enbridge Inc. more involved in EGD's operations.  But there, the Board said:   

"The Board appreciates that there may be intense personal pressure on individuals within ECG to be team players within the Enbridge family and while the maximization of shareholder profits and shareholder value may be the objective of the Enbridge family members, who are competitive corporations, they are not and should not be the objective of the management staff of ECG, a regulated monopoly utility."


Do you see that?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, we do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Were you around then, when those findings were made?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Let me just look at the date here.  I was just briefly in the chair at that point in time, as the president.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I suggest to you the situation is the same as it was then, in terms of pressure to do best for Enbridge Inc., or the pressure is even greater.  What is your comment on that, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Madam Chair, I would like to respond to Mr. Thompson's comment by once again showing you the O&M costs per customer.


MS. NOWINA:  Perhaps you better make sure that Mr. Thompson can see it, Mr. Schultz.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Certainly.  Enbridge is in the red at the bar, the number 1 O&M cost per customer.  I would suggest to you, Mr. Thompson, that that suggests that we are operating this utility very productively, very cost effectively, and we are representing the interests of our ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  I think you have said that before, Mr. Schultz.


MR. SCHULTZ:  I will say it again if you continue to ask me that question.


MR. PLAYER:  I would like to add to that, as well, because it is not our O&M cost per customer, either.  The American Gas Association have also done this similar kind of work on the capital side, and this company is well below median, well below average in terms of cost to put a new customer on main.


So it's not just a matter that it is going into capital.  We're winning on both sides here, and we're going to drive the capital down until we're number one on capital, as well.  Is that for the benefit of Enbridge Inc.?  No, I think it's for the benefit of these ratepayers, and I think people have to understand that this management team has got the ratepayers' best interests in mind. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Is compensation in Enbridge Gas Distribution linked to rate of return on equity?


MR. SCHULTZ:  My compensation, first off, is transparent.  It is publicly-released information, and it is based on a number of factors.  A big part of that factor is the scorecard that I talked about.  Achieving the scorecard will make a difference in my compensation.  Achieving this scorecard is in the best interests of the ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is achieving a return on equity higher than the Board approved in the interests of EGD employees, such as yourself?


MR. SCHULTZ:  What has an impact is the earnings of the utility.  It has an impact of the customer satisfaction, our safety, our ability to add customers, keeping O&M costs per customer low.  All of these factors contribute.  There is not one single factor that makes the difference in terms of what the compensation of our employees or myself is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is return on equity a bonus feature in the compensation scheme?


MR. SCHULTZ:  No.  Not for Enbridge Gas Distribution, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do the Enbridge Gas Distribution employees get Enbridge Inc. shares as part of their compensation package?


MR. SCHULTZ:  There are some individuals, more at the senior level, that would, but certainly a very small minority in comparison to the total number of employees.


MR. THOMPSON:  Does anybody get a bonus if rates are reduced?


MR. SCHULTZ:  If customer satisfaction is increased, that is applicable to the bonus, and we do everything we can to keep our rates low in order to ensure that we have both safe and reliable and low‑cost rates to our ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is there a bonus linked to a reduction in rates, yes or no?


MR. SCHULTZ:  No, not directly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MR. PLAYER:  I don't think you can measure the value of a company with a value to a ratepayer or a customer based on just the price.  I don't care what product or service you buy.  You don't necessarily go out and find the cheapest price.  You put it all in a package and you buy value.  And that's exactly what Enbridge Gas Distribution is trying to deliver here, is the best value to its customers.  


I know you probably don't want to hear this again, but the lowest O&M cost, that is good value.  We're trying to push up the customer sat. side.  We're trying to put expansion in place so that not only our current customers, but also our prospective customers, have got an opportunity to go on gas in the future and can get off electric.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you turn over the next page in this decision excerpt, paragraphs 5.11.65, 5.11.66.  This segment of the decision talks about ‑‑ this is my paraphrase.  You don't have to accept it if you don't wish to, but it talks about the obligation of the management of a utility to act in the interests of its ratepayers.


Do you see that?


MR. PLAYER:  I see it and I believe we do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so you would agree that the utility management does have an obligation to balance the interests of ratepayers and the interests of its shareholder?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I agree with that, and, as I pointed out, the scorecard does exactly that and that's what we strive for.  And as I indicated earlier, a scorecard is in existence for every single employee in our organization.  Every single employee looks to ensure that they meet the targets; they continue to improve, such that the result will be a satisfactory and -- balance between the interests and needs of the ratepayer, as well as the shareholder.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you agree that the utility management must be independent of the shareholder?


MR. PLAYER:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the question, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you agree that the utility must act -- balance the interests of shareholder and ratepayers, acting independently of the shareholder?


MR. LADANYI:  Actually, that would be what the OEB does.  The OEB relates what happens in this room.  The Ontario Energy Board balances the interests of the ratepayers and shareholders.  We are not the OEB.  Nevertheless we try to provide benefits to both shareholders and ratepayers, but the duty to balance is really the Board's duty.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's my impression, too, Mr. Ladanyi.  That's the way the company acts.  It doesn't balance the interests of the shareholder and ratepayers.  It takes the position of the shareholder and leaves it to the Board to do the balancing.


MR. LADANYI:  No.  We have a duty to existing ratepayers, to prospective new customers, and I notice by looking around this room there is nobody here who is speaking for new customers, prospective customers.  Everybody here appears to be only interested in keeping rates as low as possible for the existing customers, and they really don't care about the benefits of gas that could be given to prospective customers in outlying communities.  


There is nobody here who is speaking, for example, for power generation customers, and the province would like us to make investments so that power generation customers can use natural gas to generate electricity.  I think Minister Duncan just spoke to that recently.  So there is nobody in here talking about that. 


So we have an overall duty to both after the ‑‑ all of the customers, both existing customers and new customers, but we can't do it through charity.  We need to have investments that our shareholders are going to make in new gas mains, in new services, in valves to provide the service.


MR. THOMPSON:  Would you take a look at paragraph 5.11.23 of this decision, at page 160, where the Board expressed concerns -– sorry:

“The Board shared the concerns expressed by many intervenors, concerning the potential lack of independent action on behalf of ECG, as discussed in greater detail, below.  The Board reminds the management of ECG that it has an obligation to act independently from its shareholder, with a view to acting in the best interests of the utility and its ratepayers.”  

     Does EGD adopt that statement of principle?   Do you support it?

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I showed you this before, and I’ll show it to you again.  I believe it does exactly that.  If we didn't have the lowest O&M-costs-per-customer, I would suggest to you, then, you could start questioning that.  But as the lowest O&M-cost, we are working in the best interest of the ratepayers, and I have proof, here, that shows it.  You keep telling me I bring this up, but you, for some reason, don't want to believe it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that's it.  You say evidence that you're acting independently of EI is, you've got the lowest cost-per-customer.  That's it.  We put our blinders on, do we? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I think the results speak for themselves.   And if we were not acting in the best interests of the customers, we would not have the lowest cost-per-customer.  And we can only achieve the lowest cost-per-customer by operating, over many years, and making decisions that are continuously in the interests of keeping costs as low as possible, both capital cost and operating costs.   You do not achieve results like this in one year.  It is many, many years of very prudent management.  And the results speak for themselves.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  My suggestion to you, gentlemen, is this:  EI is no longer -- sorry, EGD is no longer independent of EI.  EI dominates EGD.  EGD has no ability to balance the interests of ratepayers versus that of its shareholder, because it takes instructions from its shareholder on a daily basis, almost.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I totally disagree with that, Mr. Thompson.  I am in charge of this utility.  I run this utility.  I have reporting responsibility up to Enbridge Inc.  Enbridge Inc. owns Enbridge Gas Distribution.  But let me remind you, Enbridge Inc is owned by a wide variety of shareholders.  It's widely held.  There are probably people in this room that own Enbridge shares.  Maybe your families, your parents, your brothers, your sisters.  It isn't a corporate entity.  It is owned by the people, including the people of this province.  From my perspective, I run this utility in the best interests of trying to balance both.  

     I think I've got the evidence to demonstrate that both are, in fact, working very effectively.  

     MR. LADANYI:  And Mr. Player mentioned earlier -- Exhibit A6, tab 1, schedule 2, page 3, and there’s a table at the bottom of that page’ that shows that since Enbridge Inc. took over control of what was previously Consumers Gas company, our O&M-per-customer has improved.  We were either -- since that time, either number 1 or number 2 in North America.  Prior to that time, we were -- certainly, had excellent performance, but we were still number 8 or number 5.   

     If you look at those numbers, you’ll see that, if Enbridge Inc. didn't have the best interests of the customers or ratepayers in mind, why would we have this performance?  The results are showing that, even if Enbridge Inc. was dictating everything, it was beneficial to the ratepayers.  The ratepayers have profited from this.  They have been better off than if things had remained as if they were before.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would like to remind you that Consumers Gas, as it was known at the time, was acquired by Enbridge from British Gas.  It was not widely-held, at that point.  In fact, it’s probably been more than 20 years since it has been widely-held.  I conclude that the ownership of Enbridge Gas Distribution by Enbridge Inc. has been nothing but positive for the ratepayers of this province.   

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well I started here about 33 years ago, so I saw some real utility managers that had the interests of the ratepayers at heart.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Well --  

     MR. CASS:  Well, that’s a little unfair.  First of all, it’s not a question, and it's an argument. And I don't think it’s fair for Mr. Thompson to take those shots at the managers of the current utility. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I take it back.  My apologies.  But I was here more than 30 years ago.  That's a fact.  

     Let's move on, to, I guess, perhaps, some points of evidence that I think are inconsistent with the theme you have been espousing.   We talked about the budget process, and I don't want to go back to that.  

     Is inflation about 2 percent, as far as the company is concerned?  Have I got that number straight, Mr. Player? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I think we're using 2.1 percent, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And, in terms of the intervenors’ approach to this analysis of the reasonableness of budget amounts, their point of departure is the Board-approved amounts for 2005.  Is that reasonable, in your view, gentlemen? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think it is, certainly, a comparative point that we could use.  Is it reasonable, given that we didn't get full recovery of our costs at that time?  That becomes a point that's, perhaps, moot, but we can use this for comparison purposes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  What do you mean “didn't get full recovery of your costs?”  The 2005 amount was based on a settlement.  

     MR. PLAYER:  It was, but that doesn't mean that settlement gave us full recovery of our costs.  We didn't get full recovery of cost allocation, nor did we get full recovery of our customer-care costs, which we pay. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, it was the settlement approved by the Board, so the amounts were Board-approved. 

     MR. PLAYER:  I'm not disputing what you said.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  

     And does the company have any obligation to -- in your view, to try and constrain its spending within the Board-approved amounts? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Sorry, could you repeat the question.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Has the company considered it has any obligation to constrain its spending within the parameters of the Board-approved amounts? 

     MR. PLAYER:  The company will spend what it needs to spend in order to meet the needs of the ratepayers of this province, to give them safe, reliable, low-cost, high-value services.  

     If we do not get full recovery in our costs, then, that becomes a problem for management, shareholder to deal with.  But we will not do the wrong thing for the ratepayers of this province, by selling them short on short-term decisions.  

     MR. LADANYI:  “Board-approved” really means

“Board-approved for recovery in rates.”  That's what it means.  It doesn't mean Board-approved to spend, or Board limits on spending. 

     The Board doesn't take over the management of the company.  The management has to make decisions.  They have obligations regarding customer service and safety that it has to fulfil.  And it tries to do that within the Board-approved budget for recovery in rates, but may not be able to do this every year.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I wasn't suggesting the Board takes over the management.  I asked whether the company had an obligation to attempt to constrain spending within the parameters of Board-approved amounts.  

     MR. PLAYER:  We definitely attempt to constrain spending, but if we're not successful in constraining that spending, we're not going to put a customer at risk by following -- simply following that mantra.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     Let's just take a look, if you wouldn't mind, then, at IGUA No. 6.  This is Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 6.  

     And what this -- have you got the exhibit, gentlemen? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  This exhibit was attempting to see what the company did, after the 2005 case, where the O&M expenses, excluding DSM, was agreed upon at $286.5 million, with 13.5 for corporate cost-allocations and a total of 110.1 for customer care.  Are you with me so far? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think I messed up, my apologies.  What page is that on? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 6.  It's updated July 7, 2005.  The Board required the company to produce -- 

     MR. PLAYER:  What page? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well I was trying to paraphrase -- 

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, okay.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- the interrogatory.  My understanding - and correct me if I'm wrong - is that we had the Board approved O&M budget amount of 285 plus DSM, and the question was:  What did the company present to its board of directors for approval?  And the answer we got back was essentially, Well, it wasn't that budget.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Pardon?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  It was not exactly in this reconciliation given.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the reconciliation I think we find at, Mr. Ladanyi, page 4 of 5 of the updated interrogatory response?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I have it there.


MR. THOMPSON:  So we see the ADR settlement at the top, plus the DSM of 301.3; correct?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then in the next set of numbers down, we have additions to that number included in the budget presented to the board of directors; is that right?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And two of the additions are Enbridge Inc. charges and customer support ABSU fees; correct?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  


MR. THOMPSON:  And these amounts do not reflect the agreed upon budget of 285. ‑‑ sorry, $286.5 million.  These represent continuing to pay corporate cost allocations to Enbridge in excess of $20 million and continuing to pay the full CWLP fees?


MR. LADANYI:  That's what those services cost.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so one could view that as acting in defiance of the settlement.  Do you view it in that way?


MR. LADANYI:  No, I don't.  Let me put it to you another way.  Would you have ABSU, for example, not send out bills for a few months to somehow achieve a saving?  What would you have us do, exactly?  Stop answering call centre calls for a month or two just to find some savings in ABSU?  I mean, this is a cost of providing service to real customers out there.  


We have 1.7 million customers.  We have to provide service to them.  What would you have us do?  Stop doing it and somehow achieve a number that you feel has been carved in stone here?


MR. THOMPSON:  These are amounts payable to Enbridge Inc.  Where we agreed at 13.5 million, you carry on paying 23-something-million.


MR. PLAYER:  And the ratepayer didn't pay for those.  They didn't pay for any extra Enbridge Inc. charges or the extra customer support charges.


MR. THOMPSON:  You paid the ‑‑


MR. PLAYER:  We did that -- excuse me.  We did that so that we could continue to provide that service.  We have a legal contract and we need those services, and, quite frankly, being in a financial role, not having the appropriate amount of governance and assistance to provide the right governance in this company, would make me feel extremely squeamish.  So I'm not going to back away from Enbridge Inc. charges in the order of an additional $10.1 million.  


MR. THOMPSON:  That's exactly what you backed away from when you settled the amount.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Thompson, it sounds like we're getting into an argument here.  I think you have put this to the witnesses several times.  You obviously have your view of what the settlement means.  I would think that we can easily leave this for argument.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on.


I wanted you to take a look at your responses to IGUA's 52 and 66, just before I leave this topic.  I hope I have the right numbers.  


In 52, we asked the question that pertained to the CIS contract.  We asked:  If the Board were to make material disallowances, would you modify the payments to CWLP?  And the answer was essentially "no".  


And in 66, we asked the same kind of question.  I believe it was with respect to corporate cost allocation.  We asked:  If the Board limits the amount to be recovered from EGD ratepayers for services provided by EI to an amount significantly less than 21.3 million, will EGD limit the amount it pays to EI to the amount the Board allows, or will you do as you did in 2005, pay a materially larger amount to EI?


 And the answer is you will pay it to EI regardless, is the way I read this.  Is that the company's position?


MR. SCHULTZ:  The company's position would be, first off, to honour our contracts, and, secondly, to pay for the services.  We continue to look and do benchmark those cost of services against the services we pay.  We believe we are receiving fair value for the services we get, and we do pay fair value.  We work for that fair value.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is it fair to say that the continuing payments of these sums ‑ and I'm talking here now about to EI directly or through CWLP ‑ in amounts greater than the Board approved, has the effect of depressing return in EGD, all other things being equal?


MR. SCHULTZ:  The effect of not recovering costs that this utility pays for value received would, in fact, reduce the return that we would get from this utility.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so you would continue to pay money to your shareholder, even though it could affect the financial integrity of the utility.  To me, this is an example of where the shareholder comes first.


MR. SCHULTZ:  This is an example to me where the ratepayer comes first, because we're not prepared to risk the service we provide to our ratepayer by charging less because the Board felt there was a lower cost, when we saw what the cost would be.  We've done our comparisons, and we know what it costs to provide safe and reliable service to meet the customers' needs.  We will continue to do that.  That is our legal obligation, to provide safe and reliable service.  


We will continue to do that.  We would hope the Board would see that costs and the costs that we put forward are justified by a number of different avenues.  We have agreed we will commit to the open tender process when the opportunity presents itself, when we no longer have a contract in place, and we will continue to find ways to stay at the lowest O&M cost per customer, as we have been doing for the last many years.


MR. PLAYER:  The allegation that this would impair the financial integrity or financial position of this company is absurd, because the equity holder is Enbridge Inc.  So it's going to maintain that equity position in the capital structure.


MR. THOMPSON:  While reducing return below the allowed, sure, it affects Enbridge Inc., but it also affects the utility; right?  You have a duty to the utility and to its ratepayers, as well as to Enbridge Inc.  If you siphon money up to Enbridge Inc., depress the return of the utility, I suggest you're putting the interests of Enbridge Inc. ahead of the utility.


MR. PLAYER:  I don't think "siphoning" is a very good word to be used in this situation.  I think we have legal contracts that we are making payments on, and, if that's considered siphoning, then I suppose that would be how you might construe that situation.


But we're simply making a legal contract, and Enbridge Inc. will keep Enbridge Gas Distribution's capital structure financially solvent.  And I think there is a balance here, if we go back to Mr. Schultz' scorecard.  It's not just about financial.  It's about other issues.  It's about safety.  It's about service, et cetera, et cetera, as we've said numerous times.


That's why we sometimes take these positions, and we will repeatedly do that, Mr. Thompson, in order to do -- best serve the ratepayer of this province.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me turn to another example, which is, I suggest, evidence where you put the shareholders' interests first and the ratepayers' second.  That's in transactional services.  Are you aware the formula changed that's proposed there?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, are you forgetting the

significant landscape changes in this province in terms of energy? We have talked about the shortage of electricity supply.   We have talked about the government's policy of converting coal-fired generation to something other than that and natural gas is the likely in the short-term.  In order to be able to do that, the environment that we had with transactional services is entirely different in '06 and beyond than it was previous.  So this is a new environment.  A new landscape.  We have a different formula we put forward, because we didn't have the history, based upon the new environment, we have today.  

     That's not, what I would suggest, as Mr. Thompson is referring to -- is putting the shareholder first.  That is looking after the needs of the ratepayers and the customers, and the prospective new customers, of this province.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are you aware, Mr. Schultz, that the TS proposal -- under the TS proposal, the shareholder will have -- no longer have any risk? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, are you aware there may be no money, at all, depending upon the landscape? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are you aware that, under the TS proposal, the shareholder will no longer have any risk?  Are you aware of the proposal? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, I am.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so you're aware that the shareholder will no longer have any risk? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I am aware that the environment has changed so substantially that, to put all of the risk on the shareholder would not be appropriate, and it should be balanced between the ratepayer and the shareholder, given the change in the energy landscape in this province. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But under the company's proposal, the shareholder has no risk.  Are you aware of that, sir? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I am aware that the formula is entirely different and, yes, from the first dollar that's earned, our proposal would have its shared, which I think is in the best interest of both the ratepayer and the shareholder. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But the shareholder has no risk.  Can we not agree on that?  I didn't think there was a -- this was contentious.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It is not contentious.  But as I suggested before, it's a different environment, so therefore the risk should change.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the risk for the shareholder in your proposal is zero, and the sharing of every dollar is now 50:50:  that's your proposal.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And how does that do anything for the ratepayers? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  As I suggested earlier today, that incentive regulation that the oil pipelines have, has 50:50 sharing.  It is sharing with the customers and the ratepayer.  In the first ten years of that, there's $107 million, after tax, that was shared with the customers.  From my perspective, in that application, it's a good formula.  It's a formula that, I think, the customers would suggest - and have, by continuing to renew that agreement - felt is in their best interests.  

     I believe that, with the significant changes in the energy landscape in this province, it’s an opportunity to demonstrate to the ratepayers of this province that it’s also in their best interest.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I would like to turn to another topic, if I might, the reasonableness of budgeted costs and the nature -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, I'm looking at the time, and I'm wondering how much longer you think you will be.  And I realize it is not all within your control.  Or if you think we should stop for a break now? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm going to be, probably, 20 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we proceed.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you want to take a break now?  I would, quite frankly, appreciate a break. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we do a break, then -- maybe the panel would, as well.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks. 

     MS. NOWINA:  We will break until three o'clock.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.     


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:05 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Are there any preliminary matters?  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I spoke briefly with Mr. Cass over the break.  Mr. Schultz referred to two documents that I don't believe are on the record.  He had a scorecard, which I believe was part of a president's message, or something like that, if I'm not mistaken, and there was also a graph that I believe showed the spending of Enbridge in comparison with some other utilities on O&M.  


I think just for the completeness of the record, perhaps we should have those entered as exhibits.  I'm not sure if we have copies of them here today to hand out to everyone.  We may not, because I think this was more of a last-minute thing.  Mr. Cass, do we have copies of the documents?


MR. CASS:  It looks like we might be able to provide the scorecard, but not the other document, the graph, Madam Chair.  But we will certainly get copies of the graph as quickly as we can.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think they're controversial exhibits, so maybe we could mark them now and we could just make copies after we finish today.


MR. BATTISTA:  So we will mark them as K6.7, EGDI's scorecard for -- is that fiscal '05?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


EXHIBIT NO. K6.7:  EGDI'S FISCAL 2005 SCORECARD

MR. BATTISTA:  And the next one is K6.8, EGDI cost per customer graph.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.8:  EGDI COST PER CUSTOMER GRAPH FROM AMERICAN GAS ASSOCIATION

MS. NOWINA:  Was it EGD's graph or did it come from some other source?


MR. BATTISTA:  It's EGD's cost per customer graph.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  I believe for clarity, Madam Chair, the graph comes originally from American Gas Association.  The red colouring that you saw on it I think may have been added by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  I wasn't even sure that we would see the red colouring on it, so why don't we ‑‑ it comes from the American Gas Association; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mm‑hmm.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Before we begin again, maybe I can give a little instruction to the witness panel.  While I appreciate that these matters are very near and dear to your hearts, I would appreciate it if you could try to answer the questions fairly specifically and try not to be too repetitive in your responses.  We have a number of other intervenors to question you on these matters and it probably would be in the best interest of everyone, including yourselves, if we could make it as brief as possible, while making sure that you get to say what you need to say.  Mr. Thompson.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 3; RESUMED:

Jim Schultz; Previously Sworn


Scott Player; Previously Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn

Glenn Beaumont; Previously Sworn  

CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, I wanted to move to another topic.  This is bringing me close to the end.  It is the reasonableness of budgeted costs, both capital and O&M, and the nature of the evidence relied upon by EGD to establish reasonableness.


Dealing firstly with this question of affiliates, related parties, non‑arm's length parties, in the IGUA testimony, Exhibit L11.1, at page 2 there's a description there of Enbridge Inc., CustomerWorks, Enbridge Commercial Services, other EGD affiliates and reference to the Affiliate Relationships Code, which is at tab 3 of the material.


And IGUA suggests, and I want to get your comment on this, that limited partnerships in which EGD's parent, EI, has a significant ownership interest should be treated as if they were affiliates.  What's your reaction to that?  Do you agree with that proposition?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LADANYI:  I think you're suggesting -- giving to us a question that really is best answered legally.  I mean, it is more a subject for argument whether affiliates are ‑‑ limited partners are affiliates or not.  It is not a matter that we can answer directly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I see it, Mr. Ladanyi, as a question of policy, really.


Should the Board, in looking at the reasonableness of the costs being charged to EGD by limited partnerships, for example, in which EI has an interest or by other companies in which EI appears to have an interest, should it be applying the principles that apply to affiliates?


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, excuse me.  Just following up on what Mr. Ladanyi said, I believe that the affiliate relationship code itself has a discussion of what an affiliate is.  I believe the commentary, if I recall correctly, to the latest version of the Affiliate Relationships Code addresses the very issue that Mr. Thompson is talking about.  By that, I'm referring to the issue of other entities that don't strictly fall into the definition of affiliates, but that are related in some manner. 


I'm not sure how much further the witnesses can go with that sort of question.  It doesn't strike me as a factual question.  It's a question of the Board's own affiliate relationships code, the commentary that I believe addresses the specific issue, and then whatever argument might arise from that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the commentary, Mr. Cass, is attached as part of tab 3.  Perhaps you could direct me to the section that you're referring to and I could assist.  I think that is what you're referring to.


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you.


Sorry, Madam Chair.  I thought it was here.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's fine.  Sorry, while I may have misspoken, Madam Chair, I don't have my own copy of the Affiliate Relationships Code here in front of me.  I thought it was a matter that was addressed in the commentary.  I don't see it in what Mr. Thompson has handed to me, as I look at it right at this moment.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what do you think it says?  Maybe that would help me.


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Cass, if I can help, I believe when the code was issued, there was another document, apart from what is included there, that actually discussed the origins of different clauses of the Affiliate Relationships Code in the hope of assisting parties in interpreting the code.  


So your correction is correct.  What Mr. Thompson has included here is not, in my mind, the complete document that was available from the Board at the time this document was issued.


In any event, I believe this matter is one ‑‑ it's a matter of interpretation of a code, and that normally has been handled by counsel through argument and not been handled by witnesses.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me try it this way, and then I will move on.


Does the company agree that where EGD is acquiring services from companies with which it's not operating at arm's length, that there should be some scrutiny of the reasonableness of the costs that EGD pays?  You shouldn't just blindly accept what is agreed upon?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on from there, then, in terms of the relationship with CustomerWorks; that's EGD's relationship with CustomerWorks.  And I just wanted to draw your attention, if I could, to a couple of documents.


First of all, it is CCC 192.  Let's start here.  That's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192.

     Now, there are a couple of things that we ask -- I wanted to, first of all, focus on the questions that were asked.  And you’ll find this at page 3 of 10.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Page 3 of 10 were you saying Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, yes.  What we asked for -- just dealing with contracts, we asked:

“Whether there are any contracts between Enbridge Inc. and any other entity related to Enbridge Inc., such as CWLP with Accenture, or an entity related to Accenture, which are directly or indirectly related to the provision of customer-care services to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  If there are one or more contracts of this nature, then please produce copies thereof.”  

     Do you see that question? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we see it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then, in addition, we ask in 2(a):

“For complete financial statements for the years 2002, 2003 and 2004, for ECSI, CWLP, CWY or any other companies involved, directly or indirectly, in providing customer-care services to Enbridge Gas Distribution, in which either EI or Accenture have a direct or indirect interest”.  

      Do you see that question? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we do.   

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next question we ask for

-- was pro forma statements for 2005 and 2006, based on estimated national results for those entities.  

     Do you see that? 

      MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  And now, in response -- and you go over to page 9, now, to get the response.  And in paragraph 9, dealing with contracts, you indicate that the company has contacted CWLP with respect to the documents requested for production in this interrogatory, and CWLP has indicated that the company -- that it’s prepared to provide the same documents that it provided in the company's 2003 rate proceeding, on a confidential basis.  It goes on to reference the program agreement.  

      Do you see that? 

      MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  And that's the document that has been the subject of the saber-rattling this morning, and it's been -- well, we have available to us, now, the copy of what was produced in the 2003 case, which I’ll come to in a moment.  

      But, with respect to the financial information - and that's really in question 10 - it appears that all you’ve provided with respect to CWLP was the 2006 forecast earning scenario.  We didn't get the 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002.  And this is segmented information that is in the body of this document, somewhere.  I just have to find it.  I had it marked.  

      I think it comes just before the program agreement.  So I have it as Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, attachment 3, which relates to ECS, and attachment -- sorry, ECS is pages 1 and 2 of that document, and then pages 3 and 4 of that document are CWLP.   And the CWLP segmented statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006:  this is a forecast.  

     Do you see that document, panel?

      MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we do.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  And I assume that -- is this panel familiar with these numbers?  Or is the detail for Mr. McGill? 

      MR. LADANYI:  We're not familiar, at all.  It's for Mr. McGill.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But just to put it in context, what would help me to understand at page 3 and 4 of what this is showing, this is -- appears to me to be showing total CWLP earnings on a 100 percent basis, for 2006, at $27.2 million.  That appears to be a forecast.  Is that your understanding? 

      MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the -- if I can call it the “Enbridge group share” of that is 70 percent, which we see in the previous column, which would be $22.6 million; is that right? 

      MR. LADANYI:  Yes, that's what the exhibit says.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And can you help me, with respect to how the net earnings, the share of earnings that Enbridge gets, is divided between EGD and other -- or shall I ask Mr. McGill that? 

      MR. LADANYI:  Mr. McGill would be much better for that.  

      MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  But I can't find, anywhere in the information, the statements for CWLP for the prior years.  Neither in the pre-filed evidence, nor in the response to the interrogatory.  Am I missing something? 

      MR. LADANYI:  No, you're not, actually.  Mr. McGill, when he prepared this answer -- if you will look at -- when you previously referred to paragraph 10, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, page 9, he explains that -- he says:

“Enbridge Gas Distribution customer-care costs for other years are not at issue in this proceeding, and there is no customer care service arrangement in place between Enbridge Gas Distribution and CWLP beyond December 31st, 2006.”  

      So he goes and explains further in this paragraph -- and I don't want to read it to you, but these are his words for the reason why he didn't provide any additional information.  And you can take it up with him.  I believe he will be on later in this proceeding, and he can give you more details. 

      MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I wanted to take it up a bit with this panel, because, if you go to the Enbridge Inc. annual report, which is at IGUA Interrogatory No.10, we were referring to that earlier -- Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 10.  

      And at - there's so much paper here - there's a page in here that shows the earnings from CWLP for 2004, 2003 and 2002, and I'm just trying to put my finger on it.  Maybe the panel can -- I think it’s reported at Distribution Line section, but I may be mistaken.  

      MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Page 93 of 103, Mr. Thompson?  Is that the one?

      MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much.

Let me do it this way.  I appreciate that is one area, but the IGUA evidence we had identified this amount ‑‑ for the life of me, I can't put my finger on it.


If you go to page 4 of the IGUA evidence, Exhibit L11.1.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  In the middle of the first paragraph on the page:

"The earnings which CWLP and ECSI are contributing to EI have risen from about 10.7 million in 2002 to 20.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and now appear to have reached more than $24 million per annum."


And there's a reference there to the -- I think it is the first quarter report of Enbridge Inc.  That's Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 50.


We asked an interrogatory about these numbers.  The number for 2003 was about $16 million, some odd, if you would take that subject to check.  But would you agree that at a high level, these are the earnings that CWLP and ECSI are contributing to Enbridge Inc.?  Can you confirm that, Mr. Player or Mr. Schultz?


MR. PLAYER:  No, I cannot.  I'm not familiar with that.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, of course CWLP has more business than just with Enbridge Gas Distribution, so it would be unfair for us to comment on that.


Mr. McGill would be in a better position to answer that.  I don't have responsibility for CWLP and I don't know all of the details of their earnings.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's try it this way.  I had sent a letter to Mr. Hoey, I think, or Mr. Cass on Friday asking to come prepared to address certain components of the CWLP compensation, and, in particular, the component related to the so‑called marketing revenues.  Did you get a copy of what I had asked for?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I did receive it, if you give me a moment to look it up.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.   


MR. SCHULTZ:  Will you just state again which exhibit that is?


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't think it has been filed.  It was a letter that I had sent to Mr. Hoey on Friday, in which I enclosed a document that made ‑‑ or made reference to a document filed in the 0133 case, Exhibit J26, schedule 17, which the company then sent back to me.  And I had asked in there, I believe:  

"Please assure that Mr. Schultz has the historic and current information with respect to the revenues ECSI/CWLP has received and is receiving from Accenture as a result of Accenture's growth of its customer care business in North America."


Did you receive a copy of that request?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I do have it and I do have it in front of me now.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have the information to respond to it?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I can only respond in an overall context, because, as I indicated before, I don't have responsibility for CWLP and I do not know the details.  Mr. McGill would be able to talk in more depth on it.  But, in concept, if you take a look at Enbridge Gas Distribution on Consumers Gas prior to the unbundling, we had a call centre; we had billing and collections functions.  


When we were required to unbundle, Enbridge separated those customer care functions in order to be able to provide services to both Enbridge Gas Distribution and to the energy services business.  Our undertakings would not have allowed us to do that under the regulated utility.


When that was created, we then moved down a path whereby it was determined that Enbridge and its ownership of the energy services business, that that affiliation wasn't in the best interests.  Enbridge Inc. was looking more at other opportunities.  So Enbridge Inc. sold the energy services business.  


As part of that, having a separate entity, we also believed that it would be most efficient to have some economies of scale.  So the larger that customer care entity would be, the more effective it would be in terms of providing overall services to the utility.  Mr. Player discussed a little earlier some of the opportunities and the reductions in cost and the improvement in performance.


As part of that overall package, Enbridge through Customer Works LP outsourced the customer care function to Accenture.  And in that outsourcing, there was a marketing fee that was available for upside growth beyond what the current customers were, that being Enbridge Gas Distribution, Terasen, as well as those companies that Accenture were already in discussion with, companies like ENMAX and BC Hydro.


So there is a marketing fee I know Enbridge does make.  If Accenture expands that business, based upon the work that they are able to do and the additional customers they're able to gain, which -- from my perspective, as president of Enbridge Gas Distribution, the larger the scale, the more innovative ways they put forward, the better it provide us service and the lower cost in the long run.  That's my extent of the knowledge from a conceptual basis.  I don't have the details on that in terms of the earnings.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's not dwell on it, but I want to draw your attention to tab 2 of the IGUA evidence, L11.1, at paragraph 463.  What we have there is the Board's reflection in the evidence ‑‑ sorry, in its reasons the benefits that were forecast from this agreement between Accenture and CWLP pertaining to market growth revenues, and they were forecast in 2003 from one entity $385,000 and more than 5,000 per annum thereafter.


What I would like to know is the amounts, in 2004 actual, from this source of business between CWLP and Accenture, and, for 2005, forecasts for 2006 and whether they are reflected in these numbers that have been provided for 2006 for CWLP.  Can you help me with that conceptually, Mr. Schultz?


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  First, I think, as already has been made clear, this isn't an issue that this particular witness panel is able to help with the detail the details of.  Second, in my submission to the Board, this is not an issue that needs to be examined in this case.


In the 2003 case, as the Board would be aware, there was a full examination around the arrangements made with respect to customer care.  Mr. Thompson has just alluded to the fact that in that very case, questions were asked about this particular arrangement, and it's been addressed by the Board.


In my submission, in terms of the reasonableness of test year 2006 costs, this is not something that's particularly relevant.  It's part of the underlying arrangements that were already looked at in great detail and at great length in the 2003 case.


MR. THOMPSON:  My submission, Madam Chair, is this.  The existence of this arrangement goes to the nature of the relationship between CWLP and Accenture.  Part of the monies that ratepayers are paying are monies being paid to CWLP, and then by CWLP to Accenture.  





     The Accenture agreement with CWLP is not produced in this case, but what we now know is that there is a separate agreement between Accenture and Customer Works, dealing with marketing assistance.  And in my submission, that puts them into a business relationship.  It makes Accenture, subject to the principles and the costs that Accenture is charging to CWLP, and CWLP is charging to the utility, subject to the types of rules that apply to non-arm's length parties.  

     So I can argue all of that later.  The numbers were a matter of record in the prior proceeding, in my submission, going to this relationship issue, not to a -- which then affects the costs, and the reasonableness of the costs being charged by Accenture to CWLP.  So I submit it is relevant.  

     Before you rule on it, I wanted to put in the other documents that should have been put in when they answered this question, saying they had produced all of the contracts.  Because, in the package that is to be filed in response to Mr. Shepherd's request, and the request of others, we do find this separate marketing-assistance agreement between Accenture and Customer Works Limited.   So would -- perhaps it would be appropriate to ask to have this exhibit marked.  It's the confidential document, Exhibit K6.1, I believe it would be, according to Mr. Battista.  And then I could simply direct your attention to what it is I'm talking about.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Fine, Mr. Battista can we enter that as an exhibit.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that Exhibit X6.1 and we will characterize that as CWLP miscellaneous agreements.  Is that sufficient? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I would just characterize it as “copy of exhibit X”, whatever it was, filed in the prior proceeding.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Okay.  So we’ll call it “copy of Exhibit X 2.1.2 from the 2003 rate case.”  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  That would be my suggestion.            

EXHIBIT NO. X6.1:  COPY OF EXHIBIT X 2.1.2 FROM THE 2003 RATE CASE

     MS. NOWINA:  In response to Mr. Cass' concern and, Mr. Thompson, to your comments, I think the line of questioning is appropriate to continue.  And apparently Mr. McGill - is it? - may be the appropriate person to answer the line of questioning.  So you may ask further questions if you like, but if the panel cannot answer them, they cannot answer them.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might just comment on that.   I'm sorry, if you don't mind.  My concern would be that if undertakings are to be given, this really, as the Board has heard, is a matter for Mr. McGill.  I would really urge the Board not to put us into a position where this panel gives an undertaking on something that's really outside its knowledge, and then, if there happened to be follow-up questions, we end up bringing back this panel, for follow-up questions on something that wasn't really in its area to begin with.  That's a concern that I have.  

     Again, it's difficult enough getting together the panels and getting them here, but to have them come back for follow-up questions on something that's really Mr. McGill's area, I think would be quite beyond a reasonable expectation for the company.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I agree with that, Mr. Cass.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps we better have this distributed, then.  I don't intend to pursue it with this panel, except for just a couple of points.  And if you can't help me, fine, tell me.  But do you people have a copy of this Exhibit X6.1? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, we don't need to go into in camera for these questions? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I don't think so, no.  I will try and

-- well, I’ll just ask it, straight up.  Do you -- there’s a difference between Exhibit X6.1 and what was filed as an attachment to CCC 192.  

     And my question of this panel is, do you know who made the redactions from what was filed in the prior case?  Was it Enbridge people?  Or CWLP people?  Or do you know? 

     MR. LADANYI:  We don't know.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Fine.  Let's just put that aside, and I will pursue this -- these issues with Mr. McGill.  

     There was a -- Mr. Schultz has repeatedly referred to costs-per-customer, which are some benchmarking-type of evidence.  And in the IGUA evidence, and in the attachments to the IGUA evidence, there’s reference to the Board's rulings in prior cases, with respect to the competitive-tender process, as being the best evidence of fair market value.  

     Does the company agree that the results of an open, fair and competitive tender are the best evidence of fair market value? 

     MR. LADANYI:  In general terms, yes.  But in some cases, it is not possible to have an open and competitive tender.  If there are not sufficient suppliers of a particular service, so some other measures have to be used.  But, yes, if there is a clear market for a service, theoretically, an open, competitive tender is the best way to achieve the lowest price.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Does the company agree there is nothing to prevent it from inviting tenders directly from ABSU in a fair, open and competitive

market-offering? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  When the opportunity presents itself, that we have a contract that would expire, it is our full intent to provide a open, tender process.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  My understanding is, the company is proposing to tender through CWLP.  Is that your understanding? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would have to be clear on which contract you're speaking of.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I guess it's -- the CIS contract is one that I'm speaking of.  And I think there’s some evidence with respect to your plans beyond December 31, 2006, on the other. 

     But let's just take the CIS contract.  That one, as I understand it, you're planning to tender through CWLP.  Is that your understanding of the plan? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  The CIS system is currently owned by ECS, at this point in time.  And Enbridge Gas Distribution is looking at what its requirements are, to ensure that those requirements are met with a new system.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  My question was:  do you agree that there’s nothing to preclude Enbridge Gas Distribution from tendering its requirements directly to the competitive-market service-providers, rather than indirectly through this general contractor's subcontract arrangement, including CWLP?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Thompson, I would suggest, again, if you would have patience until Mr. McGill was on the stand, he would identify all of the reasons why it is in the best interests of the ratepayer in the way it’s been pursued.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, is McGill not subject to the direction of the executive management team and, in turn, Mr. Letwin?  Do you know what he's doing? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, I do know what he’s doing.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you approve it? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  First off, we put forward the information in this application that we felt was in the best interest of the ratepayers.  We've looked at all of the requirements of our CIS system -- keep in mind that our CIS system has got components of it that are more than 30-years old.  We have very few people capable, that are around, that still are able to modify it.  We feel it is in the best interest to replace that system.  We've looked at a variety of different ways.  The CIS system is not a trivial exercise.  We're looking for the most effective way to provide a low-cost service that meets our customers' needs and, at the same time, minimizes the risks.  Mr. McGill will talk to all those facts.


I have approved directionally where we go.  We have not yet got the contracts.  We have not yet done that tendering process.  But I am very comfortable directionally that what the results will be will be in the best interests of the ratepayer.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, with respect to your concern, Mr. Schultz, there is a document pertaining to that.  I'm almost at the end.  It's in, again, your response to CCC 192.  I made reference to this the other day.


It is a memorandum from Mr. McGill to you of November 25, 2004.  Hopefully you can find that in there, information under CCC 192.  That's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, and it's attachment to responses 12A to I, page 8 of 73, a memorandum redacted from McGill to J. Schultz dated November 25, 2004.


MR. SCHULTZ:  I believe I have that reference.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just on the redactions, since this was filed in confidence, why are there redactions in this document; do you know?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I do not.


MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, the documents in this production, and I don't know if I can turn it up right at the moment, but they suggest that you were looking for some regulatory comfort with respect to the new CIS arrangements, or words to that effect.  Do you recall that?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I would see that to be reasonable that I would look for comfort.  As I suggested, that system we do have has been around, at least portions of it, for a significant period of time, and I think it is in the best interest, from a regulatory perspective, that our ratepayers continue to receive timely and accurate bills, and I would feel comfortable if it was approved by the regulator.


MR. THOMPSON:  I won't go through all of the strategy here.  Mr. McGill can speak to it, but the bullet point I wanted to draw your attention to is at page 10, where Mr. McGill, in providing this memorandum to you, talks about:  

"Another consideration is how best to maintain a reasonable long‑term CIS cost base in EGD.  If we carry on with a fully depreciated CIS, I expect that EGD will only be allowed to recover something approximating the annual operating costs of the system in rates, 8 million to 9 million in the CWLP ABSU program agreement, but only 3.6 million in EGD's last OEB evidence on this point."


Just stopping there, do you recall Mr. McGill telling you that?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I recall reading that in the memo, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, the reason I said telling you that, because this memo begins on the previous page referring to a discussion he had with you on Monday.  Did the discussion relate to this topic in any respect?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I have had discussions that related to that topic with Mr. McGill in the past, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then the memo goes on:  

"If EGD finds itself in a position where it needs to replace the Legacy CIS within in a long-term incentive rate plan, the company may not be able to recover the new CIS costs until the utility's costs are rebased at the end of the incentive rate plan."


Do you recall that topic being the subject of some discussion?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That, among many others.  We did have some discussions, and, further to my previous point, the system has code in it that is many years old.  It is a very expensive system to maintain, to make any enhancements.  We have changes that GDAR will likely require.  It is my concern that, in fact, we do not have a system here that is not responsive to the needs of the Board and is not responsive to the needs of the ratepayer in providing them accurate billing.  


So part of my discussion with Mr. McGill was, When do we need to do this, how would it be developed and would it have any impact if we were moving from one type of regulation to another? 


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But that, I guess, memo from Mr. McGill seems to transmit a need to do something quickly to get our revenue requirement up to accommodate our planning for this matter in the future.  Is that the way you read it?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I recall our discussions and it was on a variety of different topics, including needs of our customers.  It included what was necessary in developing a new system.  It included the costs of providing billing to customers, a variety of things that were included in those discussions.  


And as we talked before, Enbridge Gas Distribution has always been supportive of incentive regulation, and it does come up from time to time in terms of where we are in replacing and ‑‑ certain assets.  We want to make sure we provide a safe and reliable system, but we would also make sure we provide fair value to our ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is the current status of CIS?  There's evidence filed that you were negotiating a contract with CWLP, and then it would be filed in July, and then perhaps later.  Do you know where matters stand at the moment?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I do know that Mr. McGill, as the spokesperson for Enbridge Gas Distribution on this topic, is in those discussions and is ‑‑ has negotiations under way.  I have not been told that they have been concluded yet.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, I deal with him.  Finally, gentlemen, there's been a lot of discussion about benchmarks.  You're familiar with the evidence of Mr. Stephens on benchmarking, are you?  This is evidence that Consumers Council of Canada, IGUA and VECC commissioned.


And the exhibit number, I'm afraid I don't have it.  Do you have it, Mr. Ladanyi, by any chance?


MR. LADANYI:  I have Mr. Hugh Johnson's evidence.  Yes, we have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The only point I wanted to draw to your attention is with respect to benchmarks.  Mr. Stephens refers to some these benchmarks at pages 22 and 23 of ‑‑ well, 22 through to 28 of his testimony.  Have you read this, Mr. Schultz?


MR. LADANYI:  I don't believe any one of the panel has read this, but I also should caution you that Mr. Stephens, to my knowledge, has not been qualified as a benchmarking expert, as far as I know.  He has provided evidence on your behalf, but I am not sure that we can comment whether this is accurate or what this material means.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we will ‑‑ we're forewarned, I guess.  But one of the criticisms he makes about the benchmarks that have been used from TECC, PA Consulting, Terasen BC is essentially they're out of date.  Do you have any comment on that, Mr. Schultz, or is this somebody else's area?


MR. LADANYI:  I think you asked an interrogatory about the TECC report and their evidence, and I don't want to refer to your interrogatory.  We admitted that the TECC report ends in 2002 and they stopped collecting that, but it does not invalidate the data prior to that time.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, perhaps we will leave it at this, that there's differences of view as to the appropriateness of the benchmarks on which you rely and that's, I guess, one of the issues the Board will have to resolve in this case.  


And with that, thank you very much for your patience.  I apologize for running over my 20 minutes, but I got sort of mired down in the document scramble, but thank you very much for putting up with me.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  If there are no further matters, this is an appropriate time to adjourn for today.  Thank you, panel.  We will see you again tomorrow, beginning with Mr. Warren's cross‑examination.  We will adjourn until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.

--- Whereupon hearing the adjourned at 3:55 p.m.
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